South Dakota State University Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2018

Evaluating *E. Coli* Particle Attachment and the Impact on Transport During High Flows

Louis Amegbletor South Dakota State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Bioresource and Agricultural Engineering Commons</u>, <u>Environmental Engineering</u> <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Water Resource Management Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Amegbletor, Louis, "Evaluating *E. Coli* Particle Attachment and the Impact on Transport During High Flows" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2629. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/2629

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

EVALUATING E. COLI PARTICLE ATTACHMENT AND THE IMPACT ON

TRANSPORT DURING HIGH FLOWS

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

LOUIS AMEGBLETOR

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering

South Dakota State University

2018

EVALUATING E. COLI PARTICLE ATTACHMENT AND THE IMPACT ON TRANSPORT DURING HIGH FLOWS

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Master of Science in Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for the degree. Acceptance of this thesis does not imply that the conclusion reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusion of the major department.

Rachel McDaniel, Ph.D. Thesis Advisor

Date

Van Kelley, Ph.D. Date Head, Department of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering

Dean, Graduate School

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is important that I express my profound gratitude to all those who have contributed one way or the other to the success of my master's thesis.

My first thanks goes to the almighty God for his blessings upon my life to overcome challenges during this academic journey.

I am also very grateful to my academic advisor-Dr. Rachel McDaniel for her time, effort, ideas, suggestions and most importantly the opportunity given me to through research and academia to enable me work towards my career path.

I cannot go without mentioning the contributions from my graduate committee members-Dr. Bruce Bleakley and Dr. Teresa Seefeldt for their usual support and cooperation.

I also thank the funding agencies; USGS 104B Program and USDA NIFA Hatch Project SD00H604-15 in making the monetary support for the research work of my thesis available.

I also want to thank my family for their prayers in support of my well-being through my academic journey.

Finally, the role of my colleagues Abhinav, Sara, and Sadia of the Dr. Rachel McDaniel research group cannot be overemphasized in lending their support both on the field and in the laboratory.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	х
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
ABSTRACT	xii
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Goal and objectives	3
1.3 Hypotheses	3
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Fecal Indicator Bacteria as a Threat to Water	4
2.1.1 Fecal Indicator Bacteria	4
2.1.2 FIB and waterborne illness	5
2.1.3 Water Quality Standards	6
2.1.4 Impairment of Water Quality due to FIB	8
2.2 Sources of FIB	

2.2.1 Point Sources	8
2.2.2 Non-Point Sources	11
2.3 Survival of FIB within sediment	21
2.3.1 Texture influence on the growth and survival of bacteria in sediment	21
2.3.2 Organic Matter Content and Other Nutrient	22
2.3.3 Temperature	23
2.4 Transport of FIB	24
2.4.1 Transport in Runoff	24
2.4.2 Transport via Resuspension	25
2.4.3 Artificial Floods	27
2.4.4 Shear stress	28
2.5 Bacterial attachment	30
2.5.1 Attachment in the environment	30
2.5.2 Factors affecting attachment	32
2.5.3 Methods of measuring attachment	34
2.5.4 Incorporating attachment of bacteria into water quality models	36
2.6 Best management practices for the reduction of bacteria and their impact on	water
quality	39
2.7 Bacteria attachment (partitioning) :Gaps in knowledge and future work	42

CHAPTER 3: FATE AND ATTACHMENT OF E. COLI DURING STORM EVENTS44

3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and Methods
3.2.1 Study site
3.2.2 Sample collection and processing
3.2.3 Analysing <i>E. coli</i> attachment using Stoke's law
3.2.4 Data Used and Estimation of Storm Event Variables
3.2.5 Statistical Analysis54
3.3 Results and Discussion
3.3.1 Statistics of storm events and baseflow <i>E. coli</i> fractions
3.3.2 Attachment of <i>E. coli</i> to particle fractions
3.3.3 Event Mean Concentrations of Storm Events
3.3.4 Comparison of total and unattached <i>E. coli</i>
3.3.5 Impact of storm event and baseflow on water quality standard
3.3.6 Correlation between E. coli concentrations, water quality, and hydrological
variables67
3.3.7 Predicting stormflow <i>E. coli</i> concentration70
3.3.8 Impact of particle size on travel distance of fraction of <i>E. coli</i> 72
3.4 Conclusions
3.5 Acknowledgements74
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK 75

4.1 Conclusion	75
4.2 Recommendations for Future Work	76
APPENDIX A: E. COLI CONCENTRATION	77
REFERENCES	80

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Full Name
Assessment TMDL Tracking and Implementation System
Confined Animal Feeding Operation
Colony Forming Unit
Controlled Tile Drainage
Clay and Unattached
Environmental Fluid Dynamics Code
Event Mean Concentration
Environmental Protection Agency
Fecal Indicator Bacteria
Fine and Very Fine Silt
Gastrointestinal Illness
Geometric Mean
Highly Credible Gastrointestinal Illness
Hydrologic Simulation Program-Fortran
Medium and Coarse Silt
Most Probable Number
Nephelometric Turbidity Units
Recreational Water Quality Criteria
Single Sample Maximum
Statistical Threshold Value

SWAT	Soil and Water Assessment Tool
TMDL	Total Maximum Daily Load
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
UCTD	Uncontrolled Tile Drainage
VTA	Vegetative Treatment Area
VTS	Vegetative Treatment System
WWTP	Waste Water Treatment Plant

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Examples of FIB concentrations observed across various point sources10
Table 2.2 Examples of FIB concentrations observed within sediments of various surface
waters
Table 3.1 : Bacteria concentration (Mean \pm Standard Deviation) (10 ² CFU 100 mL ⁻¹)
associated with various particle size ranges across storm and baseflow events
Table 3.2 Percent of bacteria (Mean ± Standard Deviation) associated with various
particle sizes across each storm event and all baseflow samples62
Table 3.3 Three out of eight storm events had unattached bacteria concentrations that
were significantly (p < 0.05) different than the total concentrations as shown by the p-
values for each storm event64
Table 3.4 Percent exceedance of total, settleable, and clay and unattached E. coli
concentrations across storm events and baseflow conditions according to the SSM for
primary and limited contact recreation66
Table 3.5 Spearman's Rank Correlation ($p \le 0.05$) coefficient between <i>E. coli</i>
concentrations, water quality parameters, and hydrological factors67
Table 3.6 Results of regression analysis to predict storm flow <i>E. coli</i> concentration71
Table 3.7 Estimated travel distance (miles) (Min-Max) for E. coli associated with particle
fraction across each storm event
Table A1 E. coli concentration across storm and baseflow event

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 : Flow chart depicting the separation technique on attached and unattached
bacteria34
Figure 3.1 The Skunk Creek Watershed is located within the Big Sioux Watershed in
eastern South Dakota
Figure 3.2 (a) Event loads associated with <i>E. coli</i> fractions across each storm event and
(b) the equivalent background period (EBP) for <i>E. coli</i> fractions for each storm event59
Figure 3.3 The distribution of the (a) settleable (attached) and (b) unattached <i>E. coli</i> over
storm and baseflow events
Figure 3.4 Event mean concentration of <i>E. coli</i> across all storm events

ABSTRACT

EVALUATING E. COLI PARTICLE ATTACHMENT AND THE IMPACT ON TRANSPORT DURING HIGH FLOWS

LOUIS AMEGBLETOR

2018

Fecal indicator bacteria, including E. coli, are the leading cause of water quality impairments within assessed waters in the United States. The source of E. coli includes WWTP, leaking sewers, animal manure, wildlife, livestock, and stream bed sediment. Storm events contribute to bacteria loading within waters through wash-in of land sources of bacteria and resuspension of bacteria within sediments. Bacteria introduced into the water column are either attached to particles or are unattached (or free-living). The goal of this study was to examine the attachment of E. coli to different particle sizes, including their impact on contributing to water quality impairments during storm events. A series of storm events and baseflow conditions were monitored within an impaired stream (Skunk Creek) located in eastern South Dakota. Samples were taken during storm events over a 5hour duration via autosampler while baseflow samples were taken via grab sampling. In addition, flow and water quality parameters (i.e. turbidity and temperature) were monitored, and the bed shear stress was estimated. These variables were used in a correlation analysis to determine their relationship with E. coli, including the prediction of E. coli within the water column during storm events. Unattached E. coli dominated total E. coli concentration across both storm and baseflow events (i.e. at least 75% of total E. coli concentrations). The water quality standard during baseflow conditions was satisfactory while storm events consistently exceeded the standard. Total, settleable and free-living E.

coli concentrations ranged from 7×10^2 to 22×10^3 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, 4×10^1 to 66×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, and 5×10^2 to 15×10^3 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, respectively. The high levels and exceedance rate of free-living E. coli mean that sedimentation of the settleable fraction of E. coli would not be adequate to reduce bacteria to within the microbiological water quality standard. Many instream water quality models assume that the total bacteria concentration within the water column can be predicted by modeling bacteria as free-living; this assumption was tested by assessing the statistical difference between total and unattached bacteria. The findings revealed that free-living E. coli concentrations were equal to total E. *coli* concentrations 5 out of 8 times (63%), meaning that over one third of events would not be accurately modelled with only unattached bacteria. Thus, increased understanding of attachment and incorporation of bacteria partitioning between attached and unattached (free-living) into water quality models could improve model performance and predictive capabilities. The correlation analysis revealed a weak (p > 0.05) relationship between flow, temperature, turbidity, shear stress and E. coli fractions. Regression models developed to predict total E. coli and those attached to different particle fractions during storm events performed poorly ($R^2 = 0.09-0.22$). The results presented in this study will further the understanding of fate and transport of bacteria within water as well as provide information that can be incorporated into the development of microbial water quality models.

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

The major cause of water quality impairments of surface waters within the US is fecal indicator bacteria (*E. coli*, fecal coliform, and enterococci) (USEPA, 2018). Out of 187,088 miles of streams and rivers found to be impaired by pathogens within the US, *E. coli* alone was found to be responsible for impairment in about 111,827 miles (USEPA, ATTAINS (Assessment, Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) Tracking and Implementation System, 2018). Within the US, bacterial water quality standards, including those for recreation, are determined based on the extent of fecal contamination by examining the level of total or fecal coliform bacteria, *Escherichia coli*, or enterococci (US EPA 1986).

The presence of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) is not limited to the detection of fecal contamination, but also includes the detection of other pathogens (Ishii and Sadowsky, 2008). Although *E. coli* originates from the gut of mammals including human beings, the bacterium is transported into the environment through the release of fecal matter (Ishii and Sadowsky, 2008), where it can survive and persist. Sources of *E. coli* within the environment include livestock, wildlife, leaking sewers, Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP), animal manure, runoff from agricultural land, and Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations (CAFOs) etc.

E. coli finds its way into surface waters through a number of pathways; including the direct deposition of fecal matter into the water column (Collins et al., 2007), wash-in of fecal indicator bacteria stores from diffused and land sources by runoff (Davies-Colley

et al., 2008a; Stout et al., 2005), WWTP (Baudart et al., 2000; Garcia-Armisen and Servais, 2007; Haller et al., 2009), leaky septic tanks (Weiskel et al., 1996), and through the resuspension of stores of bacteria within sediment either during natural disturbance of these stores (Jamieson et al., 2005b; Stephenson and Rychert, 1982) or artificial disturbance (Abia et al., 2017; An et al., 2002; Grimes, 1980; Muirhead et al., 2004a; Stephenson and Rychert, 1982).

Storm events have been implicated in several water quality studies for elevated bacteria levels and loading into surface waters (Ballantine and Davies-Colley, 2013; Davies-Colley et al., 2008a; Krometis et al., 2007a; McKergow and Davies-Colley, 2010). In addition, increased flow during storm events is linked with the resuspension of bacteria from sediment into the water column within streams and rivers. Resuspension of sediment-borne microorganisms (including pathogens) into the water column could increase the health risk when using these waters Apart from wash-in mobilized by runoff from fecal pollution from land sources and within catchment, storm events provide additional input for bacteria into the water column via resuspension (McDonald and Kay, 1981). Once bacteria are transported into the water-sediment environment, they undergo series of processes including settling (sedimentation) into stream bed, die-off, growth, survival, attachment, and resuspension.

The fate and transport of bacteria within the water-sediment interface are affected by whether the cells are attached to particles or remain free-living. Moreover, attachment to particles plays a strong role in controlling the transport of FIB in this system as well. There have been contradictory reports on the partitioning of bacteria between attached (particle-associated) and unattached (free-living) phases within a water column (Jamieson et al., 2004, Wilkinson et al., 1995). Thus, the incorporation of bacteria attachment into water quality models to predict bacteria fate is usually based on assumptions, since this phenomenon is poorly understood.

1.2 Goal and objectives

The overall goal of this study was to further the understanding of the fate and transport of *E. coli* during storm events. The objectives of this study were to:

- I. Measure *E. coli* concentrations and attachment rates to particle and unattached fractions;
- II. Evaluate the relationship between particle size association of *E. coli*, water quality, and hydrological parameters;
- III. Estimate the load contribution by attached and unattached fractions of *E. coli*; and
- IV. Estimate the transport distance of *E. coli* by particle size.

1.3 Hypotheses

The hypotheses for this study were:

- I. *E. coli* concentrations associated with various particles will significantly differ from each other.
- II. The attached fraction of *E. coli* will not be significantly different from the total *E. coli* concentration.
- III. *E. coli* fractions will be significantly correlated with water quality and hydrological parameters.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Fecal Indicator Bacteria as a Threat to Water

2.1.1 Fecal Indicator Bacteria

Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) have been studied extensively both in temperate (e.g. Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011; Ferguson and Signoretto, 2011) and tropical environments (e.g. Rochelle-Newall et al., 2015). FIB refers to a group of microorganisms that reside in the gut of warm-blooded animals and include *Escherichia coli*, fecal coliforms, and Enterococcus spp. These organisms find their way into the environment through fecal matter and indicate fecal contamination (Bolster, 2009, Ishii and Sadowsky, 2008; Rochelle-Newall et al., 2015). Although other microorganisms (e.g. viruses, protozoa, algae, and helminths, intestinal worms) cause water borne disease, more attention is given to FIB (Tallon et al., 2005; Chapra, 1997) because these organisms are easier to isolate and detect, are usually present in greater numbers than pathogens, and are much safer to work with than pathogens (Mubiru et al., 2000; Tate et al., 2000). Thus, FIB is preferred as surrogates for the detection of other pathogenic bacteria in environmental samples, such as water and soil (Berg, 2001; Elmund et al., 1999, Rochelle-Newall et al., 2015).

According to Bitton, G. (2005) and Ishii and Sadowsky (2008), an ideal indicator bacterium should be one that is found in the gut of warm-blooded animals, be present only when there are also pathogens and be absent when there are no pathogens, have similar survival patterns to pathogens in the environment, not be able to proliferate in the environment, be easily detected and enumerated using cheap methods, and be nonpathogenic in nature.

2.1.2 FIB and waterborne illness

Epidemiological studies have confirmed a strong relation between presence of fecal indicator bacteria and occurrence of highly credible gastrointestinal illness (HCGI) in both freshwaters (Stevenson, 1953; Dufour, 1984; Wade et al., 2006) and marine water (Cabelli, 1983; Cabelli et al., 1979; Colford et al., 2007). A higher risk of "highly credible" gastrointestinal infection caused by enterococci and *Escherichia coli* can occur at densities as low as MPN counts of 10 cells per 100 mL within recreational waters (Cabelli et al., 1982). Cabelli et al. (1982) compared the ratio of swimmer to non-swimmer symptoms and concluded that recreation in even lightly contaminated marine waters posed a danger for gastroenteritis. In addition, Haile et al. (1999) conducted an epidemiological study to assess the risk posed to a person who swam in marine waters harbouring total and fecal coliform, enterococci, and *Escherichia coli*. A higher risk of disease symptoms, including upper respiratory and gastrointestinal illness, was observed for swimmers in waters with a high level of one indicator bacterium and a low ratio of total to fecal coliforms.

In another study by Marion et al. (2010), a strong relationship between FIB and illness was found by conducting a comprehensive beach cohort study to examine relationships between water quality indicators and associated adverse health outcomes. Water use, including wading, playing, or swimming, in waters harbouring FIB resulted in a significant risk factor for gastrointestinal (GI) illness, with an adjusted odds ratio (AOR) of 3.2. In addition, an elevated *Escherichia coli* density was found to be significantly associated with elevated GI illness risk, where the highest *E. coli* quartile was associated with an AOR of 7.0 (CI 1.5, 32).

Studies in the UK also found a relation between health risk and bathing in FIB contaminated waters. Beach studies conducted in two different sites produced significant results. Swimmers were found to be more susceptible to minor infections and symptoms related to gastroenteritis than non-swimmers (Walker, 1992).

These studies demonstrate that FIB can be used as a surrogate for pathogens when examining health risks associated with impaired microbial water quality both in fresh and marine waters.

2.1.3 Water Quality Standards

Recreational and drinking water standards for FIB have been developed due to the association of illness with waters contaminated with fecal material. Standards have been developed for FIB in waters which are used to determine if a water is qualified to serve its designated use. Apart from standards suggested by the USEPA; state, territorial, and authorized tribal groups also set their own standards. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) defines water quality standards as "provisions of state, territorial, authorized tribal or federal law approved by EPA that describe the desired condition of a waterbody or the level of protection or mandate how the desired condition will be expressed or established for such waters in the future".

The various designated uses of waterbodies typically described by the USEPA include; waters for protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife, recreation, public drinking water supply, and waters for agricultural, industrial, navigational and other purposes. Under the Clean Water Act, the EPA is required to develop criteria for ambient water quality that fairly convey the scientific knowledge of the effects of pollutants

associated with both human health and the environment. States may adopt these criteria or use them as a guide in developing their own criteria. Criteria exist for aquatic life, biological organism presence, human health, microbial (recreational), and suspended and bed sediment.

Water quality criteria are developed and set by states, territories, and authorized tribes to protect the use to which the water body is assigned. Typically, water quality criteria are stated in two forms: (1) a numerical threshold value that should not be exceeded, or (2) a narrative describing the desired conditions of a water body to be met before its use. The USEPA has developed FIB criteria to protect both recreational waters and drinking water sources. Typically, enterococci and *E. coli* are used by the USEPA in defining Recreational Water Quality Criteria (RWQC). The 2012 RWQC states two numerical threshold for bacteria (enterococci and *E. coli*) namely a geometric mean (GM) and a statistical threshold value (STV). In addition, the new criteria are divided into "recommendation 1" and "recommendation 2" which represents an estimated illness rate of 36 out 1000 persons and 32 out 1000 persons, respectively. Based on recommendation 1, a geometric mean of 35 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ and 126 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for enterococci (marine and fresh water) and *E. coli* (fresh waters), respectively should not be exceeded.

In South Dakota, FIB standards are provided for waters that are designated as limited contact recreation, immersion recreation, or domestic water supply. Currently, for limited contact recreation, the *E. coli* concentration should not exceed 1178 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ in any one sample and 630 CFU100 mL⁻¹ for the 30-day geometric mean (SD DENR, 2018).

2.1.4 Impairment of Water Quality due to FIB

A water body is said to be impaired if it fails to meet the criteria established for its designated use. Pathogens are the leading cause of impairments for surface waters in the United States based on a nationwide surface water quality summary (US EPA, 2008). A national summary of water quality impairment causes from ATTAINS (Assessment TMDL Tracking and Implementation System) showed that pathogens alone are responsible for impairments in 178,755 miles of streams and rivers (US EPA, 2018). Furthermore, the US National Water Quality Inventory Reports to Congress from 2000, 2002, and 2004 also reported pathogens as the leading cause of water quality impairments in the assessed rivers and streams across the nation (USEPA, 2000; USEPA, 2002; USEPA, 2004).

2.2 Sources of FIB

The USEPA categorizes pollution into two main groups namely point and nonpoint sources. The Clean Water Act defines point sources as "any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ... This term does not include agricultural storm water discharges and return flows from irrigated agriculture." Unlike point sources, which are easily traced to a specific or direct source, non-point sources are difficult to identify and are sometimes termed as "diffused sources" (USEPA, 2018).

2.2.1 Point Sources

Numerous studies have reported high concentrations of fecal indicator bacteria concentrations at various point source outlets (Table 2.1). Point sources of FIB include storm drains and storm water falls (Brownell et al., 2007; Dickerson Jr et al., 2007; Fujioka,

2001; Geldreich et al., 1968; Jiang et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2012; Lewis et al., 2005; Marino and Gannon, 1991; Marsalek, 1979; Marsalek et al., 1992; Marsalek and Rochfort, 2004; McCorquodale et al., 2004a; McCorquodale et al., 2004b; Petersen et al., 2005; Sercu et al., 2011), sewage effluent (Fujioka, 2001; Kay et al., 2008; Petersen et al., 2005), sewage (wastewater) treatment plants (Baudart et al., 2000; Garcia-Armisen and Servais, 2007; Haller et al., 2009; Petersen, et. al 2005; Parveen et al., 1997; Sorensen et al., 1989; Templar et al., 2016), leaking sewer systems (McLellan et al., 2007; Sercu et al., 2011; Weiskel et al., 1996) and industrial and municipal effluents (Geldreich, 1966)

Levels of FIB at point source outlets tend to be high, because point source outlets are localized (or more concentrated) sources whereas non-point sources are spread out and vary spatially at their source. Findings from previous studies reported that FIB levels were at least 10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ regardless of the type of point source (Table. 2.1). For instance, Lewis et al., (2005) found that fecal coliform level within gutters and drains ranged from 6.9×10^1 to 1.5×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, and 3.1×10^3 to 1×10^6 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ respectively. In another study, Hyer, 2007 recorded fecal coliform levels from 7.5×10^5 to 4.1×10^6 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ in a sewer line. The tendency of the high levels of FIB recorded at various point sources could be linked to the reason that FIB within these sources are conveyed through conduits and channels which makes them localized.

Author	Region	Source	FIB	Range or Average	Units
Reeves et al., 2004	Southern California	Coastal Outlet	Total Coliform	2×10^2	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Coastal Outlet	E. coli	2×10^1	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Coastal Outlet	Enterococci	3×10^{1}	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Tidal Channel	Total Coliform	19.5×10^{3}	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Tidal Channel	E. coli	2×10^2	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
	Tomolog Day Watershad	Tidal Channel	Enterococcus	3×10^2	GEOMEAN MPN 100mL ⁻¹
Lewis et al. 2005	California	Gutter	Fecal Coliform	6.9×10^1 to 1.5×10^2	CFU 100mL^{-1}
100015 et un, 2000	Cumonin	Storm Drains	Fecal Coliform	3.1×10^3 to 1×10^6	$CFU100mL^{-1}$
Marino and					
Gannon, 1991	Ann Arbor, Michigan	Storm Drains	Fecal Coliform	1×10^{5}	CFU100mL ⁻¹
	-	Storm Drains	Fecal streptococci	1×10^{5}	CFU 100mL ⁻¹
Schillinger and					
Gannon, 1985	Ann Arbor, Michigan	Storm Drains	Fecal Coliform	2.4×10^{5}	log CFU 100mL ⁻¹
Schiff and Kinney,					
2001	San Diego, California	Storm Drains	Enterococcus	1×10^{4}	MPN 100mL^{-1}
Stein and					
Tiefenthaler, 2005	Southern California	Storm Drains	Total Coliform	1×10^{6}	MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Storm Drains	E. coli	$< 1 \times 10^2$ to 1.4×10^5	MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Storm Drains	Enterococcus	1×10^1 to $>2.4 \times 10^5$	MPN 100mL ⁻¹
		Storm Drains	Total coliforms	$<1\times10^2$ to 2.4×10^5	MPN 100mL ⁻¹
Hyer, 2007	Virginia	Sewer line	Fecal coliforms	$7.5 imes 10^5$ to $4.1 imes 10^6$	CFU 100mL ⁻¹
		Storm water			
Irvine et al., 2011	Western New York	Outfall	E. coli	$1.4 imes10^4$ to $2.8 imes10^4$	CFU 100mL ⁻¹
		Storm water			
Sauvé et al., 2012	Montréal, Canada	Outfall	Fecal coliforms	2 to 6.1×10^5	CFU 100mL ⁻¹
Ellis and Butler,		Storm water			
2015	London, UK	Outfall	E. coli	44 x 10 ⁴	MPN 100 mL ⁻¹

 Table 2.1 Examples of FIB concentrations observed across various point sources

2.2.2 Non-Point Sources

Non-point sources of water pollution are sources which cannot be traced to a single or a direct source. These sources are not concentrated at a point and are therefore referred to as diffused sources. Non-point sources of FIB include; surface runoff (Jeng et al., 2005a; Lewis et al., 2005), soil leaching (Garcia-Armisen and Servais, 2007), soil amendment (Jiang et al., 2007), foreshore-beach sand (Boehm, 2007; Haack et al., 2003; Kinzelman et al., 2004; Wheeler Alm et al., 2003), human bather shedding (Elmir et al., 2007), and animal fecal input (Calderon et al., 1991; Field and Samadpour, 2007; Jiang et al., 2007; Wright et al., 2009).

Characterizing non-point sources of FIB is difficult due to high spatial and temporal variability of these sources (Bradford et al., 2013). Non-point sources of FIB are often driven by runoff resulting from precipitation. As runoff moves over the land, it mobilizes the stores of fecal matter and deposits them into surface waters. Both subsurface drainage and leaching of soil also provide a means of transport for non-point sources of FIB.

The USEPA ranks agriculture as the second most probable source of microbial impairments in assessed rivers and streams (USEPA, 2018). Sources of FIB from agricultural settings include fecal matter and wastewater generated from CAFOs (Bradford and Segal, 2009; Bradford et al., 2008), livestock (grazing or feeding operations), and runoff from manure applied field (USEPA, 2018). Unrestricted access to streams by livestock has been linked to increase in bacteria levels during water quality studies (Line, 2003; Miller et al., 2010; Muenz et al., 2006). For instance, Vidon et al. (2008a) observed that *E. coli* concentrations increased within a stream by 36-fold over a 12-month period after allowing cattle to access the stream.

2.2.2.1.1 Livestock

Non-human sources of fecal contamination, such as fecal matter from livestock, have been identified as a possible source of *E. coli* (Webster et al., 2004). For instance, Valcour et al., (2002) and Michel (1998) found a strong association between the incidence of *E. coli* and cattle density (i.e. total number of cattle per hectare) using a spatial regression technique. In another study, Hancock et al. (1998) analysed fecal samples from 12 livestock farms and detected the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 ranging from 1.1 to 6.1% among the herds of cattle. Similarly, LeJeune et al., (2004) studied the prevalence of *E. coli* within fecal samples from cattle and reported 13% (636 of 4790) of fecal samples having *E. coli*.

Unrestricted or direct access of cattle to waterbodies has been linked to fecal contamination leading to cases of elevated *E. coli* concentrations in the water column (Byers et al., 2005; Davies-Colley et al., 2004; Gary et al., 1983). Davies-Colley et al. (2004) studied the impact of a herd of 246 dairy cows accessing a stream. They found that, upon crossing the stream, there was a sharp increase in *E. coli* concentrations that reached as high as 50×10^3 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, compared to background concentrations which of 3×10^2 CFU100 mL⁻¹. In addition, they found that the herds defecated 50 times more while crossing the stream than on the way leading to the stream. In another study, Vidon et al. (2008a) investigated the changes in water quality including *E. coli* levels on a 1005 metres long pastoral stream due to access by cattle on the upper 130m of the reach. After a year of monitoring water quality, it was found that *E. coli* levels increased by 36-fold during the summer and fall. Furthermore, Johnson et al. (1978) studied the levels of fecal coliform

and fecal streptococci in a stream due to the impact of grazing cattle. After monitoring water quality during grazing and non-grazing periods, they found that there was approximately a five-fold and two-fold increase in fecal coliform and fecal streptococci, respectively, during the grazing period as compared to the non-grazing period.

In another study, Aitken (2003) assessed the risk associated with livestock intensity within a farming catchment and its impact on FIB contamination. Findings revealed that FIB in streams within the sub-catchment with high livestock intensity were 4 to 8-fold higher compared to those within the sub-catchment which had low livestock intensity.

These studies have shown that livestock contribute FIB loads directly by defecating while wading in the stream, and indirectly by defecating on pastures or cropland that can lead to feces being washed off the land during precipitation events. Thus, livestock is a potential source of elevated bacteria levels in surface waters.

2.2.2.1.2 Manure

The negative impact associated with pathogens and FIB within animal manure has long been studied (Burkholder et al., 2007; Gerba and Smith, 2005; Mawdsley et al., 1995; Pell, 1997). Manure from livestock contains high levels of bacteria including pathogens (Crane et al., 1983; Oun et al., 2014). For instance, Witzel et al. (1966) analysed cattle manure and found 3.4 -5 .6 x 1 0⁵ MPN g⁻¹, 3.2 -5.6 x 10⁵ MPN g⁻¹, and 3.5 - 17 x 10⁶ MPN g⁻¹ of total coliforms, fecal coliforms, and fecal streptococci, respectively. Maki and Picard (1965) performed a similar analysis on cattle manure and found fecal coliforms and fecal streptococci levels as high as 6 x 1 0⁵ g⁻¹ and 3.1 x 10⁵ MPN g⁻¹, respectively. Contamination from animal manure occurs through several ways including; leaching from land-applied manure, runoff from land applied manure, feedlots and animal housing, and manure storage units (Oun et al., 2014).

Jenkins et al. (2006) studied impact of poultry manure application on the microbiological status of runoff from agricultural land. On average, runoff was found to contain 5.2, 2.9 and 1.1 log₁₀ MPN 100 mL⁻¹ of total coliforms, *E. coli* and fecal enterococci respectively. Culley and Phillips (1982) studied the bacteria concentrations in runoff from cropland receiving liquid dairy manure. Total coliform, fecal coliform, and fecal streptococci levels found within the runoff water ranged from 91×10^3 to 214×10^3 MPN 100 mL⁻¹, 12×10^3 to 19×10^3 MPN 100 mL⁻¹, and 53×10^3 to 72×10^3 MPN 100 mL⁻¹, respectively. In another study, Thurston-Enriquez et al. (2005) assessed the impact of three different animal manure; fresh cattle manure, aged cattle and swine slurry manure applied on cropland. Results revealed that FIB (*Escherichia coli*, enterococci, and *Clostridium perfringens* along with coliphage) loads released from the manure upon rainfall ranged from 5.52×10^5 to 4.36×10^9 , 3.92×10^4 to 4.86×10^8 , and 9.63×10^5 to 3.05×10^8 CFU for the plot treated with fresh cattle, aged cattle, and swine slurry manure, respectively.

Bacterial contamination due to from tile drained water from manure applied fields has been implicated as a source of FIB contamination (Ball Coelho et al., 2007; Geohring et al., 1998; Palmateer et al., 1993). Patni et al. (1984) studied bacteria concentrations within tile drainage water from three manured cropped fields over a 4-year period. Concentrations of fecal coliforms (FC) and fecal streptococci (FS) found in tile water were 3–5 orders of magnitude lower than in applied manure. In a similar study, following swine manure application on a tile drained field over three-years, Pappas et al. (2008) observed peak fecal coliform (FC), enterococcus (EN), and *Escherichia coli* (EC) densities in subsurface tile water of 9.6×10^2 , 8.2×10 , 12×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, respectively.

Furthermore, elevated FIB concentrations are observed in tile drainage water shortly after application to the field, in some cases within an hour of application (Geohring et al, 1998).

2.2.2.2 Wildlife and Pets

Several studies have analyzed and identified fecal matter from wildlife (Allen et al., 2011; Guenther et al., 2010; Hancock et al., 1998; Jardine et al., 2012; Literak et al., 2010; Navarro-Gonzalez et al., 2013; Pesapane et al., 2013) and pets (Geldreich et al., 1962) to quantify their potential contribution of FIB. For instance, Renter et al. (2001) analysed fecal samples from free-ranging deer within south-eastern Nebraska for *E. coli* O157:H7 and found 0.25% of (7 out of 1426) samples tested positive for the presence of this strain of *E. coli*. In another study, Pavlova et al. (1972) found fecal matter from both rabbit and rat with fecal streptococci levels of 8.5×10^5 MPN g⁻¹ and 3.9×10^6 MPN g⁻¹, respectively.

Fecal samples from cats and dogs were analysed by Geldreich et al. (1962) to detect the presence of bacteria. Fecal matter from cats was found to contain fecal coliform and fecal streptococci concentrations as high as 7.9×10^6 MPN g⁻¹ and 2.7×10^7 MPN g⁻¹, respectively. Similarly, dog feces were also found to contain fecal coliforms (2.3×10^7 MPN g⁻¹) and fecal streptococci (9.8×10^8 MPN g⁻¹).

While fecal analyses have estimated the level of some FIB within fecal matter of wildlife and pets, improved indirect methods such as bacteria source tracking have been

used to trace sources or origin of FIB contamination in surface waters (Anderson et al., 2005).

For instance, Whitlock et al. (2002) studied the sources of fecal pollution within Stevenson Creek in Clearwater, Florida and found wild animal feces as the dominant source, and lesser amount of pet (dog) feces, using bacteria source tracking. In another study, Ahmed et al. (2005) used bacteria source tracking to trace the sources of fecal contamination following the detection of *E. coli* and *Enterococcus* in a local creek. Based on 10 host organism sources studied, dog feces were found to contribute 7% of *Enterococcus* contamination, while duck feces contributed 9% of *E. coli* contamination. Furthermore, Woodruff et al. (2009) performed bacteria source tracking in Washington's lower Dungeness watershed and Dungeness Bay to determine the sources of fecal coliform pollution that impacted water quality for more than a decade. Out of the 1164 *E. coli* samples tested, wild mammal sources represented about 26% of isolates collected (i.e. raccoons, rodents, deer, elk, beaver, otter, rabbit and marine mammals), while domestic animals (dog) represented only 4.3%.

2.2.2.3 Sediments

Sediments are a major source of bacteria to the water column. Sediment reservoirs of bacteria are often categorized as non-point sources (US EPA, 2018). Bacteria find their way into sediment through; (1) runoff carrying particle-associated bacteria from both agricultural (Crowther et al., 2002; Lewis et al., 2005) and urban catchment, (2) through direct deposition of fecal matter from livestock and wildlife (Collins and Rutherford, 2004; Davies-Colley et al., 2004) and (3) leaky sewers (McLellan et al., 2007; Sercu et al., 2011),

septic tanks systems (Weiskel et al., 1996), and waste water treatment plant (Sorensen et al., 1989; Templar et al., 2016) Eventually, sources of FIB inputs entering receiving waters settle out of the water column and are stored in the bottom sediments where they can survive for long periods and can potentially proliferate (Craig et al., 2004; Haller et al., 2009; Anderson et al., 2005, Lee et al., 2006). Thus, bottom sediments serve as reservoirs of FIB within waterbodies (Jamieson et al., 2003; Jeng et al., 2005a; Whitman et al., 2006) and as a potential source of fecal bacteria for the overlying water.

With sediments identified as a potential source for bacteria, some studies have quantified these stores. For instance, Muirhead et al. (2004) quantified stores of *E. coli* within sediments by creating three artificial floods on three successive days in the Topehaehae stream located in New Zealand. After assuming that each individual flood generates a constant proportion of the previous flood *E. coli* yield, they estimated sediment stores of *E. coli* to be as high as 10^8 CFU m⁻².

Bacteria concentrations within sediments are often several folds higher when compared to the concentrations within the water column (An et al, 2002; Brinkmeyer et al., 2015; Byappanahalli et al., 2003; Byappanahalli et al., 2012; Irvine and Pettibone, 1993; LaBelle et al., 1980; Matson et al., 1978; Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011; Van Donsel and Geldreich, 1971, Pandey and Soupir, 2013). For instance, Crabill et al. (1999) observed that FC levels within sediments of a creek were, on average, 2200 times greater than that of the water column. Liao et al. (2014) also found that the monthly geometric mean of sediment *E. coli* concentrations was 40 to 350 times that of the water column. In another study, Buckley et al. (1998) reported that total coliform concentrations in sediments were approximately 1000 times higher than that of the water column.

These reservoirs of bacteria are a concern because bacteria within the sediments can be mobilized into the water column through resuspension during storm events (e.g. Weiskel et al., 1996), increased flow during dam or reservoir discharge (e.g. McDonald et al., 1982), recreational activities (An et. al 2002), the passing of livestock within a stream (e.g. Sherer et al., 1988), and passage of boats (An et al., 2002). The resuspension of bacteria into the water column from sediment is linked to the deterioration of water quality (Crabill et al., 1999; McDonald et al., 1982).

Sediment stores of bacteria recorded by researchers have been found to vary largely between locations. For instance, previous studies have observed *E. coli* levels as low as 1 MPN GDW⁻¹ and as high as 10⁸ MPN GDW⁻¹ within sediment of surface water (Table 2.2).

Author	Region	Medium	FIB	Range or average	Units
Haller et al., 2009	Geneva, Switzerland	River, sediment	E. coli	10 to 10^7	CFU GWW ⁻¹
			Enterococcus	10 to 10^7	CFU GWW ⁻¹
Desmarais et al., 2002	Florida, Fort	River Sediment	E. coli	14×10^{3}	MPN GDW ⁻¹
	Lauderdale				
		River Sediment	Enterococcus	11×10^{3}	MPN GDW ⁻¹
Irvine and Pettibone, 1993	New York, Buffalo	River sediment	Fecal coliform	$10^2 - 10^4$	GEOMEAN MPN GDW ⁻¹
	River				
		River sediment	Fecal	10^{1} - 10^{2}	GEOMEAN MPN GDW ⁻¹
			streptococci		
	Santa Monica,				
Lee et al., 2006	California	Bay Sediment	E. coli	$10^4 - 10^8$	MPN100 GDW ⁻¹
Garzio-Hadzick et al., 2010	Beltsville, Maryland	Stream sediment	E. coli	10^1 to 10^3	MPN GDW ⁻¹
He et al. 2007	San Diego,				
The et al., 2007	California	Creek sediment	Fecal Coliform	$15 imes 10^2$	MPN GDW ⁻¹
			Enterococcus	36×10^{2}	MPN GDW ⁻¹
			Total Coliform	85×10^{3}	MPNGDW ⁻¹
Stephenson and Rychert,	Boise, Idaho				
1982		River sediment	E. coli	6×10^2 to 45×10^2	MPN GWW ⁻¹
Liao et al., 2014	Blacksburg, Virginia	Creek sediment	E. coli	33×10^2 to 95×10^3	CFU GDW ⁻¹
			Enterococcus	3×10^2 to 59×10^2	CFU GDW ⁻¹
	Dunes Creek,				
Byappanahalli et al., 2003	Michigan	Creek sediment	E. coli	1 to 1×10^2	MPN GDW ⁻¹
	Warren Dunes,				
	Michigan	Creek sediment	E. coli	68 to 10^2	MPN GDW ⁻¹
Donovan et al., 2008	Newark, New Jersey	River Sediment	Fecal coliform	33×10^{2}	CFU GWW ⁻¹
			Enterococcus	9×10^{1}	CFU GWW ⁻¹
	Southern California	Wetland			
Evanson & Ambrose, 2006		Sediment	Total Coliform	12×10^{2}	GEOMEAN MPN 5GDW ⁻¹
			E. coli	20×10^2	GEOMEAN MPN 5GDW ⁻¹
			Enterococcus	70×10^2	GEOMEAN MPN 5GDW ⁻¹

 Table 2.2 Examples of FIB concentrations observed within sediments of various surface waters

GWW = gram wet weight, GDW = gram dry weight.

2.3 Survival of FIB within sediment

Bacteria are able to survive within sediments for days (Gerba and Mcleod, 1976; Goyal and Adams, 1984, Anderson et al., 2005; Craig et al., 2004), weeks (Haller et al., 2009; Jamieson, 2005), or longer (Garzio-Hadzick et al., 2010), which is often longer than survival times in the water column. For instance, Czajkowska et al. (2005) found that *E.coli* survived up to 32 days within water, while survival within sediment exceeded 90 days. Garzio-Hadzick et al. (2010) supported these findings with a microcosm study which revealed *E. coli* within overlaying water survived up to 30 days, but up to 120 days in sediment.

The survival of FIB is dependent on several factors including physio-chemical (abiotic) (e.g. temperature, sunlight, dissolved oxygen, pH, humidity, and salinity) and biological (biotic) factors (e.g. the presence of other competing organisms and predators, presence of biofilm (Byappanahalli et al., 2012; Ishii and Sadowsky, 2008). In addition, the ability of FIB to access and compete for available or limited nutrients and organic matter within their environment also affects how long they survive in both favourable and unfavourable conditions.

2.3.1 Texture influence on the growth and survival of bacteria in sediment

Particles size within the sediment has been linked to FIB survival (Garzio-Hadzick et al., 2010, Decamp and Warren, 2000; Grimes, 1980; Howell et al., 1996; Sherer et al., 1992). Burton et al. (1987) conducted a laboratory microcosm study to determine the survival rate of *E. coli* in different sediment textures varying from high clay content (75%) to high sand content (98%). Results revealed that *E. coli* survived longer in sediments

containing at least 25% clay, with a strong positive correlation ($r_s = 0.80$) between bacteria and the survival times in sediments with at least 25% clay content. On the other hand, sediment with high sand content showed high die-off of bacteria and short survival periods.

Garzio-Hadzick et al. (2010) found similar results when they studied the survival of *E. coli* in loamy sand and sandy clay loam-textured sediments (based on USDA texture class). Sediments with high fine particle content were found to have higher bacterial survival rates (i.e. slower inactivation) compared to others. The authors linked this phenomenon to the significantly higher organic carbon content (5.14%) observed in sediments with a greater amount of fine particle size when compared to the organic carbon content in other sediments (1.35% and 1.78%). In addition to differences in organic carbon content, fine–textured sediments can offer bacteria protection from microbial predators (M Davies and J Bavor, 2000) allowing for longer survival periods.

2.3.2 Organic Matter Content and Other Nutrient

The presence of organic matter in the right quantity may also enhance the survival of FIB. Survival rates of FIB within sediments were found to improve with increasing nutrient and organic carbon availability (Gerba and McLeod, 1976; LaLiberte and Grimes, 1982; Blumenroth and Wagner-Dobler, 1998; Craig et al., 2004).

For instance, Lee et al. (2006) performed a microcosm study on sediments in the presence and absence of natural organic matter, to determine the importance of organic matter on the survival of FIB in the overlaying water. Concentrations of bacteria were examined over one day in both experiments. *E. coli* in sediments with organic matter reached as high as 1.5×10^5 MPN 100 g⁻¹ wet sediment, while sediment without organic
matter content fell below detection limit (64 MPN 100 g^{-1} wet sediment), indicating extended survival and persistence of FIB are dependent, at least in part, on sediment organic matter content.

Craig et al. (2004) performed similar a study, but solely on sediment with organic carbon content from three different sites under three temperature ranges of 10, 20, and 30°C. Overall, *E. coli* in two of the sediments with higher organic carbon content (i.e. 0.35% and 2.38%) experienced significantly higher survival with decay rates ranging from 1.15 to 7.69 days and 1.72 to 7.14 days, respectively. On the other hand, sediment with less organic carbon content (0.05%) had decay rates ranging from 0.90 to 3.13 days, demonstrating shorter survival periods.

2.3.3 Temperature

The impact of temperature on the die-off of FIB within sediment appears to be more pronounced as compared to other environments (Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011). *E. coli* survival rates have been found to be inversely proportional to sediment temperature (Craig et al., 2004, Faust et al., 1975). Craig et al. (2004) determined that at 10°C, *E. coli* was likely to survive for more than 28 days, but the survival time dropped to 7 days when temperatures reached 30°C. Similarly, Garzio-Hadzick et al. (2010) studied the survival of *E. coli* in sediment mixed with dairy manure under three temperatures (4, 14, and 24°C). For the three different sediments samples studied, *E. coli* inactivation at 4°C was the slowest, ranging from 0.0169 to 0.0233 per day, followed by 0.0754 to 0.138 per day, and 0.110 to 0.346 per day for temperatures of 14 and 24°C, respectively.

Furthermore, in attempts to mimic surival of bacteria within sediments, soil is sometimes used as a medium to replace sediment. For instance, Sjogren (1994) tested the survival of *E. coli* in sandy-loam podzol soils ('Webb' soil and 'Rich' soil) taken from two different locations. Microcosm experiments were carried out on the soils at temperatures of 5, 10, 20, and 37 °C. Survival time was highest under 5 °C for both soil types, with an estimate of 23.3 months within the 'Webb' soil, and 20.7 months within the 'Rich' soil.

2.4 Transport of FIB

2.4.1 Transport in Runoff

FIB can survive for long periods of time in the environment and can be mobilized from their sources into surface waters, thus contributing to water quality impairments. Generally, storm events are associated with inputs of FIB into overlying water, through (1) runoff carrying particle-attached and unattached bacteria from within catchment (also known as wash-in of bacteria from overland flow), and (2) through the resuspension of bacteria from sediment reservoirs due to the bed shear stress exerted by flow (Jamieson, et. al 2005).

Runoff contributes significantly to water quality deterioration within receiving waters, sometimes days after the occurrence of a storm event (Jeng et al., 2005a). Several studies have quantified concentrations of FIB associated with runoff from catchments (Reeves et al., 2004, Kim et al., 2005). For instance, the work of Reeves et al. (2004) estimated that, annually, over 99% of fecal indicator bacteria (*Escherichia coli*) loading was contributed by runoff from a highly urbanized watershed in Talbert California into surface waters nearby. Jeng et al. (2005a) studied wet weather runoff entering the Lake

Pontchartrain estuary in New Orleans. Runoff samples were found to harbour as high as 50×10^3 , 14×10^3 , and 24×10^3 MPN 100 mL⁻¹ of fecal coliform, *Escherichia coli*, and enterococci, respectively. Levels of indicator organisms were elevated within both the water column and the sediment. In addition, they estimated that it would take 3 to 7 days for levels of bacteria within the water column to return to background concentrations after the impact of runoff. Similarly, Kistemann et al. (2002) reported an increase in concentrations of indicator organisms (*E. coli*, coliforms, fecal streptococci, C. perfringens) within the overlying water in three different tributaries in Germany following runoff from storm events.

2.4.2 Transport via Resuspension

The entry of bacteria into the water column is not limited to inputs from runoff from within a catchment or direct inputs of fecal matter from livestock and wildlife. Bacteria attached to particles and free-living bacteria also have the potential to enter the water column from sediment reservoirs though resuspension (Jamieson et. al, 2005a).

Resuspension is an important mechanism whereby bacteria within sediment reservoirs are mobilized into the water column. When stream bottom sediments are disturbed, both attached and unattached bacteria are suspended into the water column. Resuspension leads to an increase in water column FIB concentrations and the subsequent degradation of water quality. Resuspension has been studied via naturally occurring storm events (Fries et al., 2006; Jamieson et al, 2005a; Nagels et al., 2002; Pandey and Soupir, 2013; Stephenson and Rychert, 1982); mechanical disturbance of sediment (Grimes, 1980; Seyfried and Harris, 1990; Stephenson and Rychert, 1982) such as raking of the sediment bed (Abia et al., 2017; Gary and Adams, 1985; Sherer et al., 1988); recreational activities (An et al., 2002b); the passage of boats or ships (Pettibone et al., 1996); and artificial flood events (Gannon et al., 1983; McDonald et al., 1982; Muirhead et al., 2004; Nagels et al., 2002).

Field studies have quantified the contribution of bacteria sediment reservoirs to water column bacteria concentrations by estimating resuspension rates. For instance, Cho et al. (2010) generated an artificial flood within a first order creek in Maryland and found a resuspension rate of about 15×10^3 MPN m⁻² s⁻¹ for *E. coli*. Similarly, Jamieson et al. (2005a) estimated resuspension rates for *E. coli* within Swan Creek in Canada. Unlike Cho et al. (2010), resuspension was determined for several storm events. Resuspension of *E. coli* coincided with an increase in total suspended solids and was estimated to be 11×10^3 , 8.2×10^3 , and 15×10^3 CFU m⁻² s⁻¹ across three storm events. Finally, the authors concluded that resuspension of *E. coli* was limited to solely the rising limb of the storm hydrograph, indicating that a finite supply of the bacteria may be available for resuspension during individual storm events.

Laboratory experiments have also been conducted to estimate resuspension rates through flume studies (e.g. Cervantes, 2012). For instance, McDaniel et al. (2013) used a recirculating flume to mimic resuspension in a shallow stream. Resuspension was estimated for direct fecal deposits at various flow rates over time. Overall, resuspension rates ranged from 8.5×10^2 to 2.15×10^5 CFU m⁻² s⁻¹. The authors reported that these values were in ranges of values determined in previous studies of Cho et al. (2010), and Jamieson et al. (2005a).

2.4.3 Artificial Floods

To study the resuspension of FIB during high-flow scenarios, such as storm events or flooding, researchers have released large amounts of water into water bodies either through reservoir releases (Muirhead et al., 2004; Nagels et al., 2002) or by discharging a large quantity of water from water tanks into a stream or river (Cho et al., 2010). These artificial floods serve as a suitable means to assess the impact of instream stores of bacteria on water quality by eliminating the contributions of fecal bacteria from runoff that occurs during natural storm events.

Results obtained from artificial flood events were found to be similar to that of natural storm events (Nagels et al., 2002). In both events, peak *E. coli* concentrations precede peak flow and had similar order of magnitude increases in *E. coli* concentrations from baseflow levels. Bacteria concentrations can increase by several folds during artificial flood events (Muirhead et al., 2004). For instance, McDonald et al. (1982) found that bacteria increased by more than 10-fold in response to increased flow after a series of water releases from a reservoir.

Aside from their use as an alternative for studying the dynamics of bacteria during high flow conditions such as natural flooding, results from artificial flood experiments have been used to validate results from modelling the release and transport of attached and unattached bacteria (*E. coli*) within streams (Bai and Lung, 2005; Cho et al., 2010). For instance, the work of Wilkinson et al. (1995) used data from artificial flooding experiments conducted within three river sites in England to create a conceptual model of the entrainment (resuspension) of particle-attached fecal coliform bacteria from stream bed sediment. Similarly, Bai and Lung (2005) used results from artificial flood experiments

conducted by Muirhead et al. (2004) to test the resuspension of sediment-associated fecal bacteria (*E. coli*) under flood conditions by using the framework of the Environmental Fluid Dynamics Code (EFDC) model. Results showed that the model was capable of individually simulating contributions of particle-attached fecal bacteria from either the sediment bed or watershed individually.

2.4.4 Shear stress

Flow within a channel that is parallel to the streambed exerts bed shear stress on sediment particulates and the reservoir of bacteria. When shear stress is high enough to initiate the movement of particles into the water column, resuspension of bacteria (both sediment-attached and unattached) occurs. Shear stress beyond which resuspension will occur is known as "critical shear stress". High flow during storm events results in increased bed shear stress which causes the resuspension of both sediment and bacteria. For instance, Jamieson et al. (2005a) reported shear stress ranging from 1.5 to 1.7 Nm⁻² was linked with the resuspension of sediment-attached bacteria on the rising limb of the storm hydrograph. The authors reported that these shear stress values were similar to critical shear stress values for cohesive sediments.

The critical shear stress that triggers the resuspension of sediment-associated bacteria varies from one reach to another based on bed material properties, such as texture. Cho et al. (2010) estimated critical shear stress at different reaches of the Beaver Dam Creek tributary, with sediment particle fractions that ranged from predominantly sandy to a high fraction of silt and clay. Shear stress as high as 3.4 N m⁻² was associated with the reach having high sand content, while the other two reaches had sediment containing

mainly silt and clay which was associated with a shear stress of 18.7 and 6.2 N m⁻², respectively.

2.4.4.1 Impact of sediment resuspension on the water column

As described previously, the resuspension of bacteria from sediment can occur either naturally (e.g. during storm events) or through manmade activities such as recreational activities and crossing of streams by livestock. An increase in water column FIB concentrations of several fold has been observed following the resuspension of sediment bacteria in both field (Cho et al., 2010; Jamieson et al., 2005a; McDonald et al., 1982; Abia et al., 2017a; Muirhead et al., 2004) and laboratory experiments (McDaniel et al., 2013; Abia et al., 2017).

To study the impact of microbial resuspension from sediments on water column *E. coli* concentrations, Abia et al. (2017) examined increases in flow via flume experiments, as well as simulated disturbances (e.g. mechanical agitation through stirring) of sediment in both a flume and within the natural environment (Apies River, South Africa). Results revealed increases in *E. coli* concentrations within the water column of 3.6 to 35.8, 2.4 to 17.4, and 6.5 to 7.9 times higher than the initial concentration following mechanical sediment disturbance in flume, increased flow, and mechanical disturbance (raking and cattle crossing) within the river bed, respectively. McDonald et al. (1982) performed an artificial flood experiment by releasing water into the Washburn River in England following several rainless days and observed 10-fold increases in water column *Escherichia coli* and total coliform concentrations resulting from resuspension. Similarly, both Muirhead et al. (2004) and Nagels et al. (2002) carried out artificial flood experiments

within streams in New Zealand to study the effect of instream stores of bacteria on water column bacteria concentrations in the absence of wash-in of bacteria from the catchment. Results from both studies reported an increase in *E. coli* concentrations in the water column by two or more orders of magnitude from background levels, due to the resuspension of sediment bacteria. These studies demonstrate that resuspension of sediment bacteria stores is a major contributor to the degradation of water quality within surface waters.

2.5 Bacterial attachment

2.5.1 Attachment in the environment

Bacteria exist in one of two states, either attached to particles or unattached (planktonic bacteria). The attached fraction of bacteria refers to the ratio of particleassociated bacteria to the total bacteria concentration usually expressed in a range of 0 to 1. It is important to know the attached fraction of bacteria because these fractions will more easily settle out of the water column into sediments (Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011). In addition, Jeng et al. (2005b) and Schillinger and Gannon (1985) noted that the settling of particle-associated bacteria is linked to an increase in bacteria concentrations within sediments. On the other hand, the unattached bacteria fraction tends to remain in the water column for longer periods. Knowing the fraction of bacteria attached to settleable particles is important in determining the impact of microbial removal through sedimentation (Characklis et al., 2005).

Researchers have largely reported unattached bacteria as the dominant fraction, though the attached fraction is not negligible. However, some studies have found that less than half (20 to 35%, and 16 to 47%) of the total FIB concentration is attached to particles

(Characklis et al., 2005; Schillinger and Gannon, 1985). Attachment influences the transport of bacteria from land sources through runoff into receiving waters. Soupir et al. (2010) reported that about 28 to 49% of *E. coli* and enterococci were attached to particulates in runoff. Jeng et al. (2005b) examined attachment of indicator organisms within urban storm water runoff associated with estuarine sediments, and found that 19.6%, 22%, and 9.32% of fecal coliform, *E. coli*, and enterococci were associated with suspended particles, respectively. In addition, Schillinger and Gannon (1985) found the attachment rate of fecal coliform to suspended particles ranged between 15.9 to 16.8%. On the other hand, Mote et al. (2012) reported particle attachment of enterococci in estuarine water samples as low as 1% and as high as 95%, indicating that under certain circumstances, the dominant proportion of FIB can be attached.

Attachment of bacteria to particles has been reported to vary between storm and baseflow. Characklis et al. (2005) studied the attachment of various indicator bacteria to settleable particles in storm and baseflow water samples from three locations in and around Chapel Hill, North Carolina. The attachment of bacteria to settleable particles differed between the baseflow and storm water samples, with 30–55% of indicator organisms attached to settleable particles in storm water, while baseflow samples reported 20–35% attachment. Similarly, Fries et al. (2006) studied attachment of bacteria during both baseflow and storm events. About 37% of bacteria were found to be associated with particles in storm water samples, while nearly 50% of particle-associated bacteria were found in baseflow samples.

Attachment rates and partitioning behaviours vary between species of bacteria. For instance, Characklis et al. (2005) found that Clostridium perfringens spores exhibited a

high proportion of attachment to settleable particles (50–70%) in storm water compared to fecal indicator organisms (fecal coliforms, *Escherichia coli*, enterococci) which had attachment rates of 20–35%. Similarly, Krometis et al. (2007) studied attachment of indicator bacteria (fecal coliforms, *Escherichia coli*, and enterococci), Clostridium perfringens spores, and total coliphage to denser settleable particles in storm water samples over three storm events. On average, attachment was highest for Clostridium perfringens spores (65%), followed by fecal indicator bacteria (40%) and then total coliphage (13%). Furthermore, Jeng et al. (2005b) studied attachment among three indicator organisms, fecal coliform, enterococci, and *E. coli*, and found that enterococci preferentially attached to the suspended particles with a diameter range of 10 μ m to 30 μ m, while fecal coliform and *E. coli* displayed a broader particle diameter range when attaching to particles.

These studies demonstrate that FIB are partitioned between the attached and unattached phase.

2.5.2 Factors affecting attachment

The partitioning behaviour and attachment of bacteria to particles is affected by a range of factors including biological, physical, and chemical factors of the environment in which they persist. FIB have been found to be disproportionally associated with certain particle sizes. Walters et al. (2013) determined the association of *E. coli* and enterococci to a range of particle sizes (≤ 12 , 12-63, 63-1000, $> 1000 \mu$ m) found in municipal wastewater. The majority of *E. coli* (90.6 %) and enterococci (83.0%) attachment was found in particles $\leq 12\mu$ m in diameter, followed by particle size ranges of 12-63, 63-1000, and $> 1000 \mu$ m. Similarly, Guber et al. (2007) studied the attachment of fecal coliforms to various sand

particles sizes (0.0625–0.125, 0.125–0.25, and 0.25–0.5mm), silt particles (0.002 to 0.05 mm), and clay particles (<0.002 mm) both in the presence and absence of bovine manure. The results revealed that in the absence of manure, bacterial attachment was higher in the silt and clay fractions as compared to sand particles that had little or no organic coating. On the other hand, the presence of manure decreased bacteria attachment in silt, clay, and coated sand significantly; however, attachment to sand without coating did not decrease. Furthermore, the work of Soupir et al. (2010) studied the attachment of bacteria (*E. coli* and enterococci) to various particle size ranges (> 500 μ m, 63-499 μ m, and 8-62 μ m) in runoff samples collected from soil boxes treated with cowpat. At least 60% of all attached *E. coli* and enterococci were associated with particles in the8 to 62- μ m particle size range.

Both biological and chemical factors have been shown to affect bacteria attachment, including presence of biofilms (Rochelle-Newall et al., 2015), changes in ionic strength of the medium (Otto et al., 1999; Zita and Hermansson, 1994), physio-chemical strength of the substrate surface available for attachment (Regina et al., 2014), and presence and concentration of total suspended solids (TSSs) (Byamukama et al., 2005). Guber et al. (2005) used batch experiments to study the effect of the presence of manure on the attachment of *E. coli* to soil particles and confirmed that increasing manure content of the soil decreased the attachment of bacteria. In further studies, Guber et al. (2007) again found that the presence of bovine manure decreased the attachment of fecal coliforms (FC) to soils, including clay and silt fractions, and coated sand fraction.

While individual factors are important to understanding the preferential attachment of FIB to various particles, the interaction of these physical, chemical, and biological factors may result in higher variability in attachment among FIB.

2.5.3 Methods of measuring attachment

Partitioning between bacteria attached to various particles size ranges and unattached bacteria can be studied using simple methods (e.g. Soupir et al., 2010) or by a multi-step method that utilizes both chemical and physical means (Soupir et al., 2008) to partition between attached and unattached bacteria (Figure 2.1)



Figure 2.1 : Flow chart depicting the separation technique on attached and unattached bacteria

Source: (Soupir et al., 2008)

Common techniques used to separate unattached and attached bacteria include filtration, fractional filtration, settling (sedimentation) (Oliver et al., 2007), and centrifugation (Characklis et al., 2005; Cizek et al., 2008; Fries et al., 2006; Garcia-Armisen and Servais, 2009; Krometis et al., 2007; Soupir et al., 2010; Walters et al., 2013). In some cases, a combination of techniques is used. Filtration has been used widely due to its simplicity (Henry, 2004; Mahler et al., 2000; Qualls et al., 1983). The drawback of this technique is that it cannot be used to partition bacteria into various particle size groups. In order to separate bacteria attached to particles, the sample (i.e. total bacteria concentration) is passed through an 8 μ m filter to extract the particle-associated bacteria. The filtrate is processed and enumerated as the unattached bacteria, while the unfiltered sample is processed and enumerated as the total bacteria concentration (i.e. both attached and unattached bacteria). The difference between the total and the unattached fraction is the attached fraction.

Fractional filtration, also known as sequential filtration, is another technique used in determining attachment (Auer and Niehaus, 1993; Jeng et al., 2005b; Schillinger and Gannon, 1985; Soupir et al., 2010). Unlike filtration, this method is used to determine association of bacteria to various particle size ranges. Compared to simple filtration, fractional filtration is lengthier. For this technique, the sample is run through multiple filters in series, and the cells of bacteria trapped on the filter are assumed to be associated with particles of that size.

Another technique used in estimating attachment is settling (Kunkel et al. 2013, Oliver et. al, 2007). This technique takes advantage of Stoke's law. By calculating the settling velocity of a particle's size to which bacteria attach to, the time for the particle to settle out of the water column is then estimated. After thoroughly mixing sample in a graduated cylinder and allowing for the settling time for a particle to elapse, a portion of the sample is collected using a pipette, making sure that the sample is taken above the settling distance. The attachment of bacteria to each particle size is determined by calculating the difference between the concentrations determined before and after the settling time for each particle size.

The fourth technique for estimating attachment that is widely used is centrifugation (Characklis et al., 2005; Cizek et al., 2008; Fries et al., 2006; Guber et al., 2005; Krometis et al., 2007; Muirhead et al., 2005; Sayler et al., 1975; Schillinger and Gannon, 1985). Following centrifugation of samples at a specific revolution per minutes (rpm), the supernatant is processed and enumerated to determine the unattached bacteria. To find the fraction of attached bacteria, the difference between the total concentration and unattached fraction is determined. Henry (2004) stated that one flaw of centrifugation may result through the inclusion of clay attached bacteria in the category of unattached bacteria due to similarity in size of both clay-attached and unattached bacteria. It is, therefore, necessary to determine appropriate centrifuge settings to separate attached bacteria from unattached bacteria using this technique.

Pachepsky and Shelton (2011) hypothesized that; differences in estimates of bacteria attached to suspended particles observed in different studies is likely to result from the method used in analysing these attachment rates

2.5.4 Incorporating attachment of bacteria into water quality models

The attachment of bacteria to particles influences their transport and persistence within the environment. According to Russo et al. (2011), the modelling of suspended bacteria transport is performed using two methods. One is modelling all bacteria as unattached or free-living cells, while the other partitions them between unattached and sediment-associated bacteria. Although the attachment of fecal bacteria to suspended particles in the water column has significant implications on the fate and transport of bacteria in water bodies (Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011), most models developed to predict microbiological water quality assume bacteria are solely unattached or free-living cells (Jamieson et al., 2004; Wilkinson et al., 1995). Thus, the inclusion of particle-associated bacteria (attachment) will likely lead to the improvement of these models.

Few studies have attempted modelling transport of bacteria by incorporating the attached fractions. The work of Bai and Lung (2005) successfully modelled the transport of sediment-associated bacteria by incorporating sediment process within the Environmental Fluid Dynamics Code (EFDC) model. The fraction of particle-associated bacteria in the water column was modelled using K_p, the partition coefficient (L mg⁻¹); and m, the sediment concentration in the water column (L mg⁻¹); while particle-associated bacteria within the sediment were modelled using β_B , the bulk density of the sediment (mg L⁻¹); \mathcal{E} , the porosity of the sediment; and K_p.

Similarly, several SWAT (Soil and Water Assessment Tool) studies incorporated partitioning of bacteria between attached and unattached (or free-living) while predicting in-stream bacteria level (Kim et. al 2010, Kim et. al 2017). For instance, Kim et al. (2010) made modification to the bacteria transport within the original SWAT 2005 to simulate *E. coli* within three reaches of Little Cove Creek watershed in southern Pennsylvania. They included a model to simulate transport of sediment-attached bacteria similar to that used by Bai and Lung (2005) in grouping water column bacteria as either attached to particles or free living. Overall, in comparing the modified SWAT model that incorporated attachment to the original model, the modified model performed better at the three sites

with NSE (Nash-Sutcliff model efficiency) of -0.2, -0.7, and 0.2 versus -64.9, -112.2, and -94.3 respectively for the original model with no modification. A successful model was created to inform swimming advisories based on bacteria concentrations for Lake Pontchartrain following storm water. A constant bacterial attachment rate of 0.09 was assumed and used for bacteria associated with suspended solids (McCorquodale et al., 2004b).

Attachment rates used in modelling differ based on study location. For instance, Steets and Holden (2003) simulated the fate of runoff associated with FC through a coastal lagoon in California using a mass balance-based, mechanistic model. The authors assumed the attachment of bacteria to suspended sediments to be 0.90. Similarly, Pandey and Soupir (2013) modelled the impact of sediment *E. coli* on the resuspension and transport of water column *E. coli*. The authors assumed the attachment rate for *E. coli* as 80-90% of the total *E. coli* in the water column based on Hipsey et al. (2008). Overall, in comparing the predicted *E. coli* with observed *E. coli* data, the model performed well and reported a skill of 0.78, NSE coefficient of 0.55 and an R^2 of 0.85.

While incorporating the attachment of bacteria to suspended particles yields better simulation results, most studies make assumptions of these attachment rates rather than using measured attachment rates from the studied system.

2.6 Best management practices for the reduction of bacteria and their impact on water quality

Collins et al. (2010) stated that pathways of bacteria transmission occur directly or indirectly. They defined direct pathways as "those by which fecal matter is deposited directly into waterways or are so close in proximity to waters such that potential for washin is very high"; on the other hand, indirect pathways were defined as "those which involve transport of fresh or aged fecal matter via surface runoff and subsurface seepage or drainage"

Management practices designed to improve water quality work in two ways. One is to reduce the delivery of the loads of bacteria into receiving water sources using engineered systems that intercept, capture, and treat bacteria-contaminated water from indirect pathways prior to releasing into receiving waters (e.g. Craggs et al., 2004a; Craggs et al., 2004b), or, secondly, by eliminating or reducing the access of direct pathways to water sources (e.g. Parkyn, 2004; Sunohara et al., 2016). Examples of management practices that are designed to improve microbiological water quality include vegetative treatment systems (e.g. vegetative treatment areas, constructed wetlands), riparian area management, and permanent fencing to exclude the direct access of livestock to waterways.

Vegetative treatment systems (VTS), or vegetative treatment areas (VTA), have been used extensively as an easily adopted and inexpensive means of improving water quality. The USDA-NRCS (2006) defines VTS as "plant-based treatment systems (typically perennial grass or forage crops) intended to reduce environmental risk associated with runoff and other process waters from an open lot livestock system. These systems perform treatment functions including solids settling, soil infiltration, and filtering (soil biological and chemical treatment), thus, the term *treatment* is used as opposed to *filter*". Harmel et al. (2018) evaluated the efficiencies of VTAs in reducing bacteria within runoff from a small-scale swine operation in three counties in central Texas over a 4-year period. Overall, the runoff data showed that VTAs significantly reduced *E. coli* loads with treatment efficiencies ranging from 73 to 94%. Wetlands are another form of vegetative system adopted to improve the quality of runoff water entering receiving waters by reducing pollutant loads, including bacteria. The processes behind the removal of bacteria in constructed wetlands includes filtration, solar irradiation, sedimentation, aggregation, oxidation, antibiosis, predation, and competition from other microorganisms (Gersberg et al., 1987). Davies and Bavor (2000) demonstrated the reduction of bacteria levels in storm water that was routed through a wetland. Over a 6-month period of comparing bacteria removal performance of a constructed wetland and a water pollution control pond, they found that bacteria removal in the wetland was significantly higher (p < 0.05) and more effective than that observed in the water pollution control pond.

Aside from the use of plant-based systems to treat bacteria-laden water, techniques such as restricting livestock access to streams using fences and bridges for cattle crossings offer suitable alternatives in reducing the impact of direct microbial pathways. Assessing the impact of the installation of livestock exclusion fencing on stream water quality was performed by Line (2003). Microbiological analysis over the 5-year period after fencing exclusion showed 65.9% and 57.0%, reduction in fecal coliform and enterococci levels, respectively. The bacteria levels were significantly reduced, indicating that livestock exclusion through fencing was effective at reducing bacteria levels in the stream and improving water quality at large. A similar study was conducted by Muenz et al. (2006) to

assess stream health for two buffered (fenced from cattle access) and three unbuffered (unfenced streams; cattle have access to streams) streams in an agricultural catchment. Overall, both average fecal coliform (410 CFU 100 mL⁻¹) and fecal streptococci (1239 CFU 100mL⁻¹) counts for the three unbuffered streams were higher compared to the average fecal coliform (197 CFU 100 mL⁻¹) and fecal streptococci (927 CFU 100 mL⁻¹) of the two buffered streams, indicating the water quality benefits of stream fencing. Furthermore, Doran and Linn (1979) found that fecal coliform levels were 5 to 10 times more in runoff collected from an unfenced pasture compared to a fenced pasture within eastern Nebraska during a three-year study.

Parkyn (2004) reviewed the effectiveness of riparian buffer zones and noted that adopting both fencing and riparian area management using riparian buffer strips largely reduces microbial contamination to pastoral streams. The buffer strips reduce the impact and the magnitude of surface runoff, thus providing some time for infiltration and at the same time trapping fecal matter and particle-attached bacteria. For instance, Wilcock et al. (2009) observed a reduction in median annual *Escherichia coli* concentrations at a rate of 116 MPN 100 mL⁻¹ per year within a pastoral stream in the Waiokura catchment in New Zealand after reducing diary effluent discharges and adopting riparian management involving permanent livestock exclusion from stream banks and riparian buffers to mitigate runoff from pasture.

Studies have shown that tile drains serve as a conduit for transport of pollutants including microbial exports into surface waters (e.g. Joy et al., 1998; Lapen et al., 2008; Pappas et al., 2008), thus controlling the drainage provides a means of mitigating negative impacts of tile drainage on water quality. Controlling drainage in tiles within an agricultural

catchment has been used as a management practice to reduce loading fecal indicator bacteria such as *E. coli* and enterococci into surface waters at a watershed scale (Sunohara et al., 2016). Water quality targets were met during the study period spanning from 2005 to 2013, representing nine growing seasons with 76% and 25% reduction of *E. coli* and enterococci in drainage water. Recent studies by Wilkes et al. (2014) have also demonstrated the effectiveness of controlled tile drainage in improving water quality. The study monitored the microbiological status within two agricultural watersheds, one with controlled tile drainage (CTD) and the other with uncontrolled tile drainage (UCTD) over a 7-year period. Significantly lower (at p=0.06 level) waterborne pathogen (bacterial and viral pathogens) and, coliphage loading were observed in stream discharge from the watershed with CTD compared to the watershed with UCTD systems. Furthermore, Frey et al. (2015) found that CTD systems employed on macro porous field plots significantly reduced loads of fecal indicator bacteria and Campylobacter spp. in tile drainage water that may reach surface waters as compared to UCTD.

2.7 Bacteria attachment (partitioning) :Gaps in knowledge and future work

The attachment of bacteria within the environment affects the fate and transport of the bacteria. Several studies used various techniques to estimate the partitioning of bacteria between attached and unattached including filtration (and or fractional filtration), centrifugation (Characklis et al., 2005; Cizek et al., 2008; Fries et al., 2006; Henry, 2004; Jeng et al., 2005; Krometis et al., 2007; Sayler et al., 1975; Schillinger and Gannon, 1985; Soupir et al., 2010; Soupir et al., 2008), and settling (sedimentation) (Kunkel et al., 2013). However, there still exist contradictory report on fraction of bacteria that exist as attached

or unattached. For instance, a couple of studies reported less than 50% of total bacterial concentration as attached (Characklis et al., 2005; Cizek et al., 2008; Fries et al., 2006; Krometis et al., 2007; Soupir et al., 2010) while others reported more than 50% of attachment (Characklis et al., 2005; Krometis et al., 2007). Furthermore, Pachepsky and Shelton, (2011) hypothesized that the discrepancy in estimates of partitioned bacteria across various studies could be due to the technique used. Currently no study has been done to compare results from various techniques used in estimating partitioning of bacteria. Thus, analyzing the significance difference in results across different techniques could offer some ideas about how some of these discrepancies can be corrected.

While the partitioning of bacteria is receiving growing attention, the representation of this phenomenon in water quality models to predict in-stream bacteria is still very poor. Most models till date assume attachment instead of estimating in situ attachment which could be a fair representation of natural condition within the studied system. It is therefore laudable that future should compare results between using assumed and estimated (or insitu) attachment coefficient.

Furthermore, attachment rate among various particle size could also be incorporated into mechanistic and watershed scale models since current efforts only attempts partitioning mainly between attached and unattached fraction. Involving attachment as a distributed parameter among various particle size rather than as a lumped parameter-i.e. as attached and unattached could offer water quality managers to target a more specific bacteria load contributed by bacteria attached to a particular size.

CHAPTER 3: FATE AND ATTACHMENT OF *E. COLI* DURING STORM EVENTS

A paper to be submitted

Louis Amegbletor¹, Rachel McDaniel¹, Bruce Bleakley²

Department of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering, South Dakota State University, Department of Biology and Microbiology, South Dakota State University Brookings, SD

Abstract: Storm events contribute to the deterioration of microbiological water quality status within receiving surface waters. The transport and fate of bacteria within the sediment and water column is affected by environmental factors including the partitioning of bacteria between free-living and particle associated bacteria. The goal of the study was to improve the understanding of the fate and transport of E. coli partitioned between attached and unattached (or free-living) phase during high flow regime. Baseflow conditions and a series of storm events were monitored for *E. coli* alongside water quality and hydrologic parameters. Satisfactory water quality was observed during baseflow, but storm events lead to poor water quality due to elevated *E. coli* concentrations that resulted in high exceedance rates. A significant fraction of E. coli within the water column during both storm events and baseflow conditions were free-living or associated with very fine particles (\geq 70% of total *E. coli*). The high concentrations of free-living bacteria (5×10² – 15×10^3 CFU 100mL⁻¹) indicate that sedimentation of the settleable fraction of E. coli would not be adequate to reduce bacteria to within the microbiological water quality standards. Many water quality models assume bacteria are unattached; to test this

assumption, a Mann Whitney U-test test was performed to determine if there is a significant difference between unattached and total *E. coli* during storm events. This revealed that the free-living *E. coli* concentration was significantly different than the total *E. coli* concentration in three out of the eight storm events evaluated (38%). Water quality and hydrologic parameters, including turbidity, temperature, flow, and bed shear stress, showed a weak (p > 0.05) relationship with *E. coli*. A regression model was developed to estimate the concentration and, therefore, risk of *E. coli* in Skunk Creek; however, this model failed to adequately predict storm event *E. coli* ($R^2 = 0.09-0.22$) even when partitioned between the different particle fractions. The findings of this study demonstrate the importance of partitioning between particle associated and free-living bacteria when predicting bacteria concentrations in the water column as well as the need for determining site-specific attachment rates to determine appropriate management practices for bacteria reduction.

3.1 Introduction

Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB), including *E. coli*, are used to detect the presence of other microorganism including pathogens, (Ishii and Sadowsky, 2008) and are recognized as major contributors to water quality impairments in both marine and freshwater across the United States (US EPA, 2011). In addition, the presence of these bacteria has been associated with public health risks and the occurrence of water-borne diseases (Cabelli et al., 1979; Cabelli et al., 1982; Dufour, 1984; Prüss, 1998; Wade et al., 2006; Wade et al., 2003). For example, Cabelli et al. (1982) found that a higher risk of "highly credible" gastrointestinal infection was associated with enterococcus and *Escherichia coli* concentrations as low as 10 MPN 100 mL⁻¹ within recreational waters.

FIB can be transported into receiving waters through several pathways, including direct fecal deposits from livestock, wildlife, and pets; runoff; and point sources, such as septic tanks and wastewater treatment plants. The proximity of land sources including pasture land, and homes with pets, etc.) of fecal matter impacts their susceptibility to be mobilized and transported into receiving waters (Collins et al., 2010).

Upon entering surface waters, bacteria eventually settle out of the overlying water into the sediment bed where they can survive and grow (Carrillo et al., 1985; Davies et al., 1995; Hendricks, 1971; Jamieson et. al, 2005a; Sherer et al., 1992). Streambed sediments can act as a reservoir for FIB (Byappanahalli et al., 2003; Gary and Adams, 1985; Gerba and Mcleod, 1976; Obiri-Danso and Jones, 2000; Shiaris et al., 1987) which can be transported into the water column through resuspension (Jamieson et al., 2005a; McDonald et al., 1982; Nagels et al., 2002; Sherer et al., 1988). Storm events are one way through which these reservoirs of bacteria can be mobilized and are linked to significant increases in *E. coli* concentrations within the water column due to resuspension (Fries et al., 2006; Jamieson et. al , 2005a; Krometis et al., 2007b; McKergow and Davies-Colley, 2010; Nagels et al., 2002). For example, Jamieson et al. (2005a) seeded sediment with a tracer bacterium within a creek and recovered these bacteria within the water column over several storm events due to resuspension.

The contributions of bacteria that occur during storm events lead to the deterioration of microbiological water quality. Not only do storm events resuspend FIB into the water column, they also contribute FIB to surface waters through runoff (Jeng et al., 2005a; Reeves et al., 2004). This phenomenon occurs when land sources (e.g. manure applied fields, feedlots, CAFOs) of FIB are mobilized via the impact of runoff (or wash-

in). For instance, McKergow and Davies-Colley (2009) and Davies-Colley et al. (2008) estimated that about 98% and 95% of annual bacteria loading occurred within storm event, respectively.

Bacteria in the sediment environment or water column exist either attached to particles or remain free-living, which affects thier fate and transport in the environment. For instance, within the water column particle-attached bacteria are less mobile and settle out faster (Fries et al., 2006). Similarly, the particle sizes to which *E. coli* attaches will influence how far they are transported downstream. On the other hand, free-living or unattached *E. coli* are buoyant and remain in the water column longer, and are carried farther distances downstream.

Although past studies have looked at *E. coli* concentrations during storm events, there is limited information on the attachment rates during high flow and the size of particles *E. coli* is typically attached to when transported in the water column. Understanding attachment rates of *E. coli* during storm events will provide vital information that can be incorporated into water quality models used to predict bacteria concentrations in surface waters. In addition, selecting and designing best management practices (BMPs) to reduce *E. coli* will benefit from the expanded knowledge of bacteria transport dynamics.

The goal of this study is to understand the attachment of *E. coli* to various particle sizes affecting its fate and transport. The objectives of this work include: (a) to evaluate *E. coli* concentrations and their attachment rates, (b) evaluate the relationship between both attached and unattached *E. coli* concentrations and water quality parameters, (c) evaluate the impact of attached and unattached *E. coli* concentrations on water quality status, and

(d) develop a regression model to predict *E. coli* partitioned between the different particle fractions.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Study site

The study was conducted on Skunk Creek, a tributary to the Big Sioux River located in southeastern South Dakota. The Skunk Creek watershed extends across Moody, Lake, and Minnehaha Counties and drains an area of approximately 1613 km² (SD DENR, 2004) (Figure 3.1). The land use in the watershed is predominantly agricultural with row crop production dominating the landscape (64%), followed by hay and pasture (17%), and grassland (6%) (NLCD 2011). About 6.5% of the watershed comprise of urban developed area (Rajib et al., 2016).

Skunk Creek contributes a significant proportion of the flow to the Big Sioux River, at times making up nearly the entire flow. Thus, water quality issues within Skunk Creek greatly impact the water quality in the Big Sioux River. The designated use of Skunk Creek includes warm water marginal fish life propagation, limited contact recreation, fish and wildlife propagation, recreation, stock watering, and irrigation (SD DENR, 2004). Major causes of water quality impairment within Skunk Creek watershed include *E. coli*, fecal coliforms, and Total Suspended Solids (TSS) (US EPA, 2018). According to the US EPA Water Quality Assessment Report for 2016, limited contact recreation was not supported within the Skunk Creek due to high concentrations of *E. coli*. The primary source of the bacteria in the watershed is believed to be livestock, although human, pet, and wildlife sources also contribute a portion of the total load (SD DENR, 2008). To reduce *E. coli* concentrations within the creek, riparian area management and seasonal riparian area

management practices have been implemented; however, *E. coli* persists at high levels, often above the standard.



Figure 3.1 The Skunk Creek Watershed is located within the Big Sioux Watershed in eastern South Dakota.

3.2.2 Sample collection and processing

Both storm event samples and dry weather (baseflow) samples were collected for *E. coli* analysis. During the study period, discrete water samples were collected for eight individual storm events using a Teledyne 6712 ISCO refrigerated auto sampler (ISCO Inc., Lincoln, NE USA). Before each storm event, the autosampler was packed with one-liter bottles, which were sterilized through autoclaving. The sampler collected water samples every 30 minutes over a five-hour period. Turbidity and temperature were also monitored using an ISCO turbidity meter and temperature sensor respectively. Dry weather samples were collected by grab sampling using sterilized polypropylene bottles.

Both storm and grab samples were transported on ice to South Dakota State University-Water Research Laboratory for microbiological analysis of *E. coli* concentrations and attachment rates. Attachment was assessed by particle size ranges using sedimentation in graduated cylinders by employing Stokes's Law. Samples were plated within 24 hours on Modified mTEC agar (USEPA, 2002) using standard membrane filtration. Briefly, samples were filtered through 0.45µm filters and placed into a water bath for 2 ± 0.5 hours at $35^{\circ}C \pm 0.5^{\circ}C$. The plates were then placed in the incubator for 22 ± 2 hours at $44.5^{\circ}C \pm 0.2^{\circ}C$. Samples were plated in triplicate and colony counts were averaged.

3.2.3 Analysing E. coli attachment using Stoke's law

Each sample bottle was inverted several times (more than twice) to thoroughly mix any settled particles, thereby ensuring that the sample was homogenized prior to sedimentation. Immediately after inverting the samples, they were poured into 500 mL graduated cylinders and a sub-sample was immediately collected for enumeration of total *E. coli* concentration.

The *E. coli* was partitioned into three particle size ranges according to the American Geophysical Union (AGU) Sediment Classification System Ranges were medium and coarse silt (0.016 mm \leq d \leq 0.062 mm), fine and very fine silt particles (0.004 \leq d \leq 0.016 mm), and clay and unattached bacteria (d < 0.004 mm). Clay-sized particles were grouped with unattached bacteria because the diameter of *E. coli* (1-2.5 µm) (Holt et al., 1994) is similar to the size of clay particles (0.24 to 4 µm).

The settling velocities (Equation 1) for each particle size range were used to calculate the sampling times for each size fraction at a depth of 9 cm from the surface of water samples in the graduated cylinders. The settling velocities were computed using Stoke's Law:

$$V_S = \frac{g}{18} \left(\frac{\rho_S - \rho_W}{\mu} \right) d^2 \tag{1}$$

where v_s is the settling velocity, ρ_s is the particle density (estimated at 2.65 gcm⁻³), ρ_w is the density of water (1g cm⁻³), μ is the dynamic viscosity of water (g cm⁻¹ sec⁻¹), and *d* is the particle diameter (cm). The minimum diameter for each particle size range was used in calculating settling velocities. A similar method was employed by Liu et al., (2011).

After each particle size range settled out of the column, a portion of the sample was collected with a pipette and plated using standard membrane filtration as described above.

3.2.4 Data Used and Estimation of Storm Event Variables

3.2.4.1.1 Rainfall Data

Precipitation data were obtained from the South Dakota Mesonet for the study period (Summer 2016 to Summer 2017). The weather station at Colton, Minnehaha County, South Dakota (N43.7687, W96.8897) was used to calculate storm precipitation amount and intensity.

3.2.4.1.2 Shear Stress

Bed shear stress is the stress exerted by the flow of water parallel to the streambed within stream channel. The stress exerted on the sediment reservoir of bacteria causes resuspension of bacteria into water the column. Bed shear stress was computed using Equation (2) according to Jamieson et. al (2005):

$$\tau_b = y S^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{n}{A}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} Q^{\frac{3}{2}}$$
(2)

where τ_b is the bed shear stress (Nm⁻²), y is the specific weight of water (Nm⁻³), *S* is the slope (m m⁻¹), n is Manning's roughness coefficient, A is the cross-sectional area of flow (m²), and Q is flow (m³s⁻¹). Manning's roughness coefficient was estimated as 0.045 based on channel characteristics (i.e. winding, with some pools, weeds and stones) (Ward and Trimble, 2003). The estimated slope of channel bed was 0.0006 m m⁻¹ according to USGS StreamStats Web Application Version 4.0 (Ries III et al., 2008).

3.2.4.1.3 Bacteria load and Equivalent Background Period Loading

The baseflow *E. coli* load represents the average of the estimate of loads of bacteria within the water column during dry weather periods. Baseflow load (BL) was computed as follows (Equation 3):

$$BL = Q_B C_B \Delta t \tag{3}$$

where, Q_B is average baseflow for study period (m³ s⁻¹), C_B is average baseflow *E. coli* concentration (CFU 100 mL⁻¹); Δt = period of storm event sampling (s), and BL is base flow loads for the same duration of the storm event being monitored (CFU).

Baseflow was separated from total stream flow for the study period using the Webbased Hydrograph Analysis Tool (WHAT) (Lim et al., 2005). WHAT has been used in previous studies in separating baseflow from total stream flow (Ahiablame et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2013). The baseflow separated was used to estimate *E. coli* load during the baseflow period.

To estimate the bacteria load for each storm event (i.e. the event load, EL), the bacteria concentrations for samples collected at each time interval, were multiplied by the corresponding flow and time, and the result was summed over for each storm event monitoring duration (Equation 4):

$$EL = 10^4 \sum_{i=1}^{N} Q_i C_i \Delta t \tag{4}$$

where C_i is the ith discrete bacteria concentration (CFU 100 mL⁻¹); Q_i is the ith discrete discharge (m³ s⁻¹); N is the total number of discrete concentrations measured for a storm event and; Δt is the time interval of each measurement (s).

Equations 3 and 4 were combined to estimate the equivalent background period (EBP) (Equation. 5). The EBP represents the length of time required for baseflow to yield the same load as a storm event (Krometis et al., 2007b). A similar technique was used by Liao (2015) and Krometis (2007) in estimating EBP for enterococcus and *E. coli*:

$$EBP = EL/DL \tag{5}$$

3.2.4.1.4 Event Mean Concentrations

The event mean concentrations (EMC) are the flow weighted concentrations of *E*. *coli* present within discrete water samples over the monitoring duration for each storm event. EMC for each storm event was calculated to compare *E. coli* concentrations from individual storm events (Equation 6):

$$EMC = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \ Q_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Q_i} \tag{6}$$

3.2.4.1.5 Estimating transport distance of *E. coli* by particle size.

Estimate of how far *E. coli* associated with various particle sizes was estimated by combining Stokes's law, stream flow, and width of stream (Equation 7):

$$D_T = \frac{Q}{V_S W} \tag{7}$$

where Q is stream flow $(m^3 s^{-1})$; V_s is particle settling velocity $(m s^{-1})$; and W is stream width (m)

3.2.5 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.1 SAS Institute Inc., The SAS system for Windows Release 9.1, Cary, N.C., 2001.

The significance differences ($p \le 0.05$) between the mean bacteria concentrations attached to the various particle size ranges, including medium and coarse silt (MC), fine and very fine silt (FVF), and clay and unattached (CU), were determined using ANOVA for each storm event. Prior to the ANOVA test, the homogeneity of variance (HOV) was tested using the Levene Test, Bartlett's Test, and the Brown-Forsythe Test to determine if the variances of the various *E*.*coli* fractions were equal. Groups of means whose variance were not equal was tested using Welch's ANOVA. Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) was used as a post hoc test to group the mean bacteria concentrations of the three factions across each storm event.

The significant difference between the unattached and total bacteria concentrations was tested using the Mann-Whitney U test- a non-parametric test since bacteria concentrations data were not normally distributed.

A non-parametric correlation analysis using a two-tailed Spearman's Rank was used to analyze relationships between bacteria concentrations associated with various particle fractions (MC, FVF and CU), as well as the total bacteria concentration with water quality parameters and hydrological parameters. The bacteria concentration was tested for normality using both graphical method (Q-Q plots) and numerical methods (Shapiro-Wilk, Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Cramer-von Mises, and Anderson-Darling test). Spearman's correlation was used because the data were not normally distributed.

A correlation analysis was also performed to determine the relationship between the amount of rainfall recorded for each storm event and the *E. coli* EMC.

A multiple linear regression model was developed for each bacteria fraction to predict *E. coli* concentrations during storm events using measured water quality parameters

(turbidity and temperature) and hydrological parameters (flow and shear stress). Both independent variables and dependent variables were log10 transformed, to reduce skewness and improve normality of data sets. Prior to the regression analysis, multicollinearity between the independent variables was assessed by calculating Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) (Ott and Longnecker, 2001) to ensure that the developed models did not include redundant variables. The regression equations developed for estimating *E. coli* concentrations were of the form:

$$\log(E. coliConc) = \log\beta_0 + \beta_1 \log(X_1) + \beta_2 \log(X_2) + \cdots + \beta_n \log(X_n)$$

where *E.coliConc* is the *E. coli* concentration (CFU 100 mL⁻¹); β_0 is the regression constant; β_1 , β_2 β_n are regression coefficients; and $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$ are the predictor variables. Since the equations were developed with log10 transformed variables, the final equations are expressed as:

$$E. coliConc = \beta_0 X_1^{\beta_1} X_2^{\beta_2} \dots \dots X_n^{\beta_n}$$

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Statistics of storm events and baseflow E. coli fractions

The mean concentrations of *E. coli* associated with the particle fractions varied across the storm events. The highest concentration was associated with the clay and unattached fractions hereafter referred to as unattached, *E. coli* (9.3 to 92.8 × 10² CFU 100 mL⁻¹) followed by the medium and coarse silt fraction (0.8 to 17.9×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹) and then fine and very fine silt fraction (0.8 to 8.6×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹) (Table 3.1). The clay and unattached bacteria are hereafter referred to as unattached bacteria.

To further explore intra-storm trends, the mean *E. coli* concentration associated with each particle was tested for significant differences. Generally, across each storm, there was a significant difference between at least two groups of *E. coli* fraction (ANOVA, p<0.05, Table 3.1). However, the Tukey HSD multiple comparison test (Table 3.1) revealed no significant difference between the mean *E. coli* concentration associated with the medium and coarse silt and the fine and very fine silt. On the other hand, the unattached *E. coli* fraction was consistently significantly greater than both the medium silt and very fine silt fractions across all the storm events.

Although clay attached *E. coli* was grouped with unattached *E. coli* in this study, previous studies reported that bacteria have high affinity for attachment to finer and cohesive particles, such as clay (Auer and Niehaus, 1993; Gannon et al., 1983). For instance, Gannon et al. (1983) studied the association of fecal coliforms to various particle sizes, including clay sized fractions. Across a series of storm events, they found that clay-sized particles consistently reported highest concentration ranging from 24- 130 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, followed by silt-sized fraction with concentration within 0-9 CFU 100 mL⁻¹.

In addition, the average *E. coli* concentrations across storm events showed greater variability than those observed within baseflow. Both average medium and very fine silt *E. coli* were at least 0.8×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ while average unattached *E. coli* were at least 6.2×10^2 CFU 100 mL⁻¹, across storm events (Table 3.1).

Event	Medium and Coarse Silt	Fine and Very Fine Silt	Clay and Unattached
S-1	$5.9 \pm (7.9) \text{ b}$	$6.4 \pm (5.2) \text{ b}$	34.7 ± (11.9) a
S-2	$0.8 \pm (0.6) \text{ b}$	$0.8 \pm (0.4) \text{ b}$	$6.2 \pm (0.4) a$
S-3	$17.9 \pm (18.1) b^{\ddagger}$	$8.6 \pm (9.8) b$	92.8 ± (43.8) a
S-4	$6.9 \pm (5.7) b$	$3.7 \pm (3.7) b$	63.1 ± (9.5) a
S-5	$6.9 \pm (5.7) b$	$3.2 \pm (2.8) b$	38.4 ± (25.3) a
S-6	$3.9 \pm (2.8) b^{\ddagger}$	6.2 \pm (4.4) ab	48.7 ± (49.2) a
S-7	$0.9 \pm (0.7) \mathrm{b}$	$1.0 \pm (0.7) \text{ b}$	9.3 ± (1.1) a
S-8	$6.3 \pm (5.9) b$	$3.0 \pm (2.9) b$	44.9 ± (13.2) a
BF	$0.1 \pm (0.7)$	$0.9 \pm (0.7)$	$10.2 \pm (11.6)$

Table 3.1 : Bacteria concentration (Mean ± Standard Deviation) (10² CFU 100 mL⁻¹) associated with various particle size ranges across storm and baseflow events

S = Storm Event; BF = Baseflow Event, Values followed by the same letter are not significantly different within each storm event according to Tukey HSD multiple comparison test (p < 0.05) after ANOVA test.

^{$\dagger}$ Number of samples (n) = 6, due to overflow from autosampler.</sup>

Estimating loads and the equivalent background (baseflow) period for each storm event helped define the magnitude and impact of storm events on bacteria loading compared to the baseflow period. The *E. coli* load ranged from 1.2^{10} to 1.5^{12} CFU, 1^{10} to 1^{12} CFU, and 2^9 to 4^{11} CFU, over the storm event monitoring duration (i.e. over 5 hours for storm events 1, 2, 4, 5, 7 and 8, and over 3 hrs. for storm events 3 and 6) for total, unattached, and settleable *E. coli*, respectively (Figure 3a). The unattached *E. coli* load consistently dominated the total *E. coli* load within each storm event as it constituted a significantly high proportion of total *E. coli* concentration.

The results of the EBP of indicates that although storm events were occasional events, several periods of baseflow loading would be required to equal *E. coli* loading during these events. For instance, across five of the eight storm events (Figure 3.2b), it is noted that among *E. coli* fractions including total *E. coli* at least two periods of baseflow were required to produce similar storm event bacterial loading. This suggests that water quality monitoring studies solely dependent on baseflow monitoring cannot fairly represent
microbiological status of assessed waters. This finding corroborates previous work of Cizek et al., (2008); Krometis et al., (2007); and Liao et al., (2015)

Since it is required by the Clean Water Act that programs such as Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) be established to enable impaired waters to meet set standards, storm events should also be targeted.



Figure 3.2 (a) Event loads associated with *E. coli* fractions across each storm event and (b) the equivalent background period (EBP) for *E. coli* fractions for each storm event.

3.3.2 Attachment of *E. coli* to particle fractions

The percentage of *E. coli* associated with various particle fractions was expressed as a proportion of the total bacteria concentration. It was necessary to estimate attachment since contradictory reports exist on the fraction of bacteria that occur as unattached (or free-living) and attached to particles (Jamieson et al., 2004). The average percentage of *E. coli* associated with the clay and unattached fraction was highest among the three fractions, with at least 70% of the bacteria associated with this fraction across all storm events (Table 3.2 and Fig 3.3b). Attachment rates among the silt fractions were similar, with the average percent attachment ranging from 8.7 to 15.2% for medium and coarse silt, and 5 to 13.6% for fine and very fine silt (Table 3.2).

Although the average percent attachment to particle sizes for baseflow were somewhat lesser compared to those across storm events, the baseflow average percent attachment to medium and coarse silt (9.1%), fine and very fine silt (9.7%), and clay and unattached (81.2%) were within the ranges found in storm events (Table 3.2). The average attachment rates in storm events for medium and coarse silt ranged from 8.7 to 15.2%, fine and very fine silt attachment that ranged from 5 to 13.6%, versus clay and unattached that ranged from 75.6 to 85.8% (Table 3.2).

To simplify the attachment analysis, particle fractions were categorized into two groups according to size: (1) medium and coarse silt along with the fine and very fine silt, hereafter referred to as the settleable fraction; and (2) clay and unattached, hereafter referred to as the unattached fraction.

Across all storm samples, at least 75% of the *E. coli* were unattached, while at least 62% of the bacteria in baseflow samples (n=7) were unattached. Similar results were

observed by Jeng et al. (2005a) who found 75-80% of indicator bacteria (*Escherichia coli*, fecal coliforms, and enterococci) within storm events samples were unattached. The average settleable fraction, on the other hand, constituted at least 15% of the bacteria concentrations across both storm flow and baseflow conditions. This pattern compared favorably with that of Cizek et al. (2008) who found attachment rates of 15 to 30% for FIB (*E. coli*, fecal coliforms, and enterococci) associated with settleable particles during storm events. Krometis (2007) reported similar findings, with less than half (40%) of total FIB associated with settleable particles within storm events samples.

Although five out of eight storm events had a slight increase in the average percent (20-24%) of the settleable fraction of *E. coli* over that of baseflow (Figure 3.3a). Overall, the baseflow and storm event settleable *E. coli* fractions were not significantly different (ANOVA, p > 0.05).



Figure 3.3 The distribution of the (a) settleable (attached) and (b) unattached *E. coli* over storm and baseflow events.

Event	Medium and Coarse Silt (%)	Fine and Very Fine Silt (%)	Clay and Unattached (%)
S 1	10.8 ± 8.5	13.6 ± 11.1	75.6 ± 11.7
S 2	10.1 ± 7.5	9.6 ± 5.1	80.3 ± 8.2
S 3	14.2 ± 9.4 ‡	7.9 ± 10.2 ‡	$77.9 \pm 9.4 \ddagger$
S 4	9.2 ± 7.0	5.0 ± 5.2	85.8 ± 8.67
S 5	15.2 ± 10.70	6.9 ± 5.6	77.9 ± 11.7
S 6	$9.1 \pm 6.6 \ddagger$	$12.8 \pm 9.5 \ddagger$	78.0 ± 8.7 ‡
S 7	8.7 ± 5.8	7.9 ± 6.3	83.4 ± 7.1
S 8	10.8 ± 7.3	6.1 ± 6.6	83.1 ± 7.6
BF	9.0 ± 5.9	9.7 ± 8.6	81.3 ± 11.8

Table 3.2 Percent of bacteria (Mean ± Standard Deviation) associated with various particle sizes across each storm event and all baseflow samples

⁺Number of samples n = 6, due to overflow from autosampler. S = Storm Event. BF = Baseflow (n = 7)

3.3.3 Event Mean Concentrations of Storm Events

The EMCs of *E. coli* across the storm events ranged from 7.8×10^2 to 1.2×10^4 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ (Figure 3.4). Event three had the highest EMC, while S2 had the lowest EMC. Correlation analysis showed that although the *E. coli* EMCs were positively correlated with both the total amount of rainfall (0.18) and the average rainfall intensity (0.12); however, these relations were not statistically significant (p > 0.05).



Figure 3.4 Event mean concentration of *E. coli* across all storm events

3.3.4 Comparison of total and unattached E. coli

Most in-stream water quality models assume bacteria within the water column are free-living despite the consensus that a portion of the bacteria are associated with particles (Jamieson et al., 2004; Wilkinson et al., 1995). To test the hypothesis that *E. coli* concentrations within the water column can be predicted by solely modeling the bacteria as unattached, a Mann-Whitney test was performed. The null (H_0) hypothesis was the total *E. coli* is equal to unattached.

Three out of eight storm events (38%) had unattached *E. coli* concentrations that were significantly different from the total *E. coli* concentrations within the water column (Table 3.3), although flow during all the storm event sampling durations were significantly different (p < 0.05). However, it should be noted that if solely attached bacteria were modelled to predict instream water column bacteria levels this could underpredict total bacteria load as well as the risk associated with such impaired water. This is because attached bacteria have the tendency to settle out of the water column faster compared to unattached ones that persist in water column for longer period. For instance, Rehmann and Soupir, (2009) reported that assuming total *E. coli* as attached *E. coli* resulted in a model that underpredicted *E. coli* levels within the water column. The authors identified attached fractions of bacteria as one source of discrepancy in the model developed. Therefore, modeling both attached and unattached bacteria could lead to improved predictions of bacteria during storm events.

Table 3.3 Three out of eight storm events had unattached bacteria concentrations that were significantly (p < 0.05) different than the total concentrations as shown by the p-values for each storm event

Storm Events	<i>p</i> -value
S-1	0.073
S-2	<.0001
S-3	0.330
S-4	0.015
S-5	0.120
S-6	0.480
S-7	0.002
S-8	0.159

3.3.5 Impact of storm event and baseflow on water quality standard

Skunk Creek is currently listed as impaired for limited contact recreation, which has a single sample maximum (SSM) *E. coli* limit of 1,178 CFU 100 mL⁻¹. Skunk Creek is a major tributary to the Big Sioux River which is impaired for *E. coli*, and is designated as primary contact recreation which has a SSM of 235 CFU 100 mL⁻¹. Exceedance for the total, settleable, and unattached fractions of *E. coli* for both storm and baseflow samples were estimated based on the SSM standard for primary contact recreation and limited contact recreation (Table 3.4). During the recreational season, the percentage of flow contributed by Skunk Creek to the Big Sioux River ranges from 45% in July and September to 67 % in May, averaging 59% over the entire recreation season (SD DENR, 2012). Thus, since water quality within Skunk Creek substantially impacts that of the Big Sioux River, therefore water quality analysis was conducted on the standards for both Skunk Creek and the Big Sioux River.

In comparing the total *E. coli* concentrations across storm events (n = 8) to the *E. coli* standards, 74% and 100% of total number (n = 72) of samples exceeded the limited and primary contact recreation standards, respectively. On the other hand, 32% and 76% of *E. coli* attached to settleable particles were above the limited and primary contact recreational standard, respectively. The unattached *E. coli* showed a similar pattern of exceedance as observed with the total *E. coli* across with 72% and 97% of samples exceeding limited and primary contact recreational standard for *E. coli*, respectively.

The unattached *E. coli* has a greater tendency to contribute to water quality impairments with exceedance rates for limited contact recreation ranging from 9 to 1108%, whereas settleable *E. coli* exceedance rates ranged from 2 to 463% (Table 3.4). Although sedimentation of settleable bacteria contributes to the reduction of microbial contamination in the water column (Jeng et al., 2005b), this would not be enough to reduce *E. coli* concentrations to within the standard on Skunk Creek. In studying the removal of bacteria from the water column through sedimentation, Davies and Bavor (2000) found that the inefficiency in the reduction of bacteria from the water was due to the bacteria associated with the clay sized fraction (< 2 μ m) which is similar in size to unattached *E. coli*. Moreover, Jeng et al. (2005b) found that three to seven days were needed for the elevated water column *E. coli* to return to background levels.

			Standard = $1178 \text{ CFU } 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$.		Standard = 235 CFU 100 mL ⁻¹ .			
	Event	Total No. of Samples	No. of samples > Standard	Min Exceedance by %	Max Exceedance by %	No. of samples > Standard	Min Exceedance by %	Max Exceedance by %
	S-1	10	10	129	619	10	1049	3503
	S-2	10	0	-	-	10	199	270
	S-3	6	6	443	1773	6	2623	9290
	S-4	10	10	435	706	10	2581	3943
Total	S-5	10	10	13	885	10	465	4836
	S-6	6	6	49	1255	6	645	6694
	S-7	10	1	21	21	10	313	504
	S-8	10	10	217	605	10	1489	3432
	BF	7	2	21	211	6	120	1460
	S-1	10	10	98	339	10	893	2099
	S-2	10	-	-	-	10	140	187
	S-3	6	6	299	1210	6	1900	6467
	S-4	10	10	307	613	10	1943	3474
Unattached	S-5	10	9	90	746	8	169	694
	S-6	6	6	22	1108	6	513	5957
	S-7	10	1	21	21	10	236	406
	S-8	10	10	138	463	10	1091	2723
	BF	7	1	203	203	6	104	1418
	S-1	10	6	13	180	10	28	1304
	S-2	10	-	-	-	2	1	30
	S-3	6	5	22	463	6	326	3645
	S-4	10	4	27	87	10	28	836
Settleable	S-5	10	4	16	58	8	169	694
	S-6	6	2	2	47	6	32	638
	S-7	10	-	-	-	3	1	57
	S-8	10	2	53	87	10	28	836
	BF	7	-	-	-	3	2	46

Table 3.4 Percent exceedance of total, settleable, and clay and unattached *E. coli* concentrations across storm events and baseflow conditions according to the SSM for primary and limited contact recreation

Exceedance rates for the SSM during baseflow conditions were much lower compared to those across storm event samples for all *E. coli* fractions. For instance, the maximum exceedance rate for total *E. coli* across most storm events (6 of 8) based on SSM for limited contact recreation was at least three-fold greater than that of the baseflow conditions. The limited and primary contact recreation SSMs were exceeded two out of seven and six out of seven samples, collected during baseflow conditions with a maximum exceedance of 221% and 1460% respectively for total *E. coli* (Table 3.4). The baseflow unattached *E. coli* showed nearly the same exceedance rate, according to SSM limited (1 out of 7 samples) and primary (6 out of 7 samples) contact recreation, as total *E. coli*. However, among the settleable fraction, there was no exceedance of the SSM standard for limited contact recreation, while 3 of 7 samples exceeded the SSM standard for primary contact recreation.

3.3.6 Correlation between *E. coli* concentrations, water quality, and hydrological variables

No significant correlations (p > 0.05) were observed between the *E. coli* concentrations, water quality parameters (turbidity and water temperature), and hydrologic factors (flow, shear stress) (Table 3.5).

Table 3.5 Spearman's Rank Correlation ($p \le 0.05$) coefficient between *E. coli* concentrations, water quality parameters, and hydrological factors

	Turbidity	TC	MC	FVF	SF	CU
Flow $(m^3 s^{-1})$	-0.47	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Water Temperature (°C)	0.99	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Turbidity (NTU)	NA	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Bed Shear Stress (N m ⁻²)	-0.32	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

NTU = Nephelometric Turbidity Unit, TC = Total *E. coli*, MC = Medium and Coarse Silt, FVF = Fine and Very Fine Silt, SF = Settleable Fraction (MC + FVF)

NS = Not Significant, NA = Not Applicable.

The lack of correlation between *E. coli*, water quality, and hydrologic parameters reflects the variability of bacteria concentrations which are impacted by several factors including but not limited to temperature (Chahinian et al., 2012; Ishii et al., 2006), plantmicrobe interaction (Carr et al., 2005; Cinotto, 2005), predation (Davies et al., 1995; González et al., 1990; Huws et al., 2008; Iriberri et al., 1994), salinity (Goyal et al., 1977; He et al., 2007; Lipp et al., 2001), and resuspension and redistribution of sediments stores during and following rainfall (Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011).

Temperature influences the survival and die-off rates of FIB within sediment and water (Bradford et al., 2013; Garzio-Hadzick et al., 2010; Vidon et al., 2008b), thus contributing to the concentration of bacteria present. However, previous studies have revealed mixed results on whether water temperature relates strongly with water column bacteria concentrations. For instance, Gentry et al. (2006) reported a significant negative correlation (p < 0.05, $r^2 = -0.30$), whereas Vidon et al. (2008b) reported significant positive correlations in two different creeks ($p < 0.01 r^2 = 0.7$, and 0.71), while Islam et al. (2017) reported no significant correlation between water temperature and *E. coli* concentrations. Therefore, the lack of correlation found in this study is supported by previous work.

Although turbidity is sometimes used as a surrogate for FIB within the water column, there have been mixed findings with regards to this variable based on flow regime. Davies-Colley et al. (2008a), He et al. (2007), Mallin et al. (2001), and Reeves et al. (2004) found significant positive correlations between turbidity and water column FIB concentrations during baseflow conditions, and Davies-Colley et al. (2008b) found positive correlations during storm events. However, in other studies (Gentry et al., 2006; Vidon et

al., 2008b), no significant correlation between turbidity and water column FIB concentrations was observed. Vidon et al. (2008b) found no significant correlations (p > 0.05, p > 0.01) between turbidity and water column *E. coli* concentrations within two different creeks during both baseflow and storm flow conditions. The dominant presence of unattached *E. coli* in the Skunk Creek watershed could have led to the weak relationship between turbidity and *E. coli* concentrations. This relation is supported by Pachepsky and Shelton (2011) who explained that turbidity should be significantly correlated with *E. coli* concentrations within water if most of the total bacteria concentration are attached.

Streamflow was not significantly correlated with E. coli concentrations, which contrasts with Pandey and Soupir (2014) and Tiefenthaler et al. (2011) who found significant positive correlations. The lack of significant correlation between E. coli and flow could be due to a few factors. First, a portion of Skunk Creek is accessible to livestock and wildlife that directly deposit fecal matter into its waters thus contributing to water column and sediment stores of E. coli. The direct input of fecal matter from these animal sources likely does not correlate with streamflow. Secondly, sediment resuspension during storm events (Jamieson et. al, 2005a; Sherer et al., 1988) is linked to increased flow, but, the impact of flow on water column bacteria could be limited by how much bacteria is available for resuspension. Jamieson (2005) studied the impact of the release of in-stream E. coli stores on water column E. coli concentrations over three storm events within a creek. It was observed that a finite supply of E. coli is available for resuspension and could be depleted. This means that, even though flow might increase, once bacteria stores are depleted this might not lead to a corresponding increase in water column E. coli. This phenomenon could result in a lack of relation between flow and water column E. coli. In addition, the 'flushing' effect of elevated streamflow on sediment reservoirs of bacteria from the onset of storm event and various stages of the storm hydrograph could lead to high fluctuations in *E. coli* concentrations that are likely not to follow the flow pattern, thus resulting in a weak relationship between streamflow and water column *E. coli* concentrations.

Although shear stress impacts the erosion of sediment (Partheniades, 1965) and bacteria resuspension from the stream bed (Jamieson et. al, 2005a), it did not have a significant relationship with the different *E. coli* fractions. McDaniel et al. (2013) reported similar findings in a laboratory study where a flume was used to mimic the resuspension and deposition of *E. coli* in a stream. Like this study, their work showed both total and particle-attached *E. coli* were not significantly correlated with bed shear stress (p > 0.05).

3.3.7 Predicting stormflow E. coli concentration

The parameters considered for developing regression models were flow, temperature, turbidity, and shear stress. These variables have been identified to impact the concentration of bacteria within the water column (Pachepsky and Shelton, 2011).

Since more than one independent variable was used in creating the regression analysis, models (Table 3.6) were selected based on; (1) a variance inflation factor of less than 10 for each independent variable, and (2) statistically significant (p < 0.05) independent (predictor) variables. The variance inflation factor quantifies the severity of multicollinearity between independent variables (Ott and Longnecker, 2001).

Regression results showed that turbidity and shear stress were found to significantly contribute to the regression models in predicting *E. coli* concentrations and should be considered when developing a regression model to estimate *E. coli* during storm flows. Turbidity was a significant (p < 0.05) predictor of *E. coli* in all models with its coefficient being consistently positive across them. (Table 3.6), indicating that an increase in turbidity would result in an increase in *E. coli* concentration. Similarly, bed shear stress had a positive coefficient across all the models, meaning an increase in bed shear stress would result in a corresponding increase in *E. coli* concentrations.

Although both turbidity and shear stress significantly (p < 0.05) contributed to *E. coli* regression models, the coefficients of determination (\mathbb{R}^2) were generally weak (0.09 to 0.22) in predicting the various *E. coli* fractions. These results indicate that storm-specific hydrologic parameters and water quality parameters were not sufficient to explain the variability of *E. coli* in the water column during storm events.

Selected Models	\mathbb{R}^2
logTC = 1.05 + 1.99log(Turbidity) + 0.10log(Shear Stress)	
TC = $11.22 \times \text{Turbidity}^{1.99} \times \text{Shear Stress}^{0.10}$	0.22
$\log MC = 0.18 + 1.77 \log(Turbidity)$	
$MC = 1.51 \times Turbidity^{1.77}$	
	0.09
logFVF = 0.14 + 1.66log(Turbidity)	
$FVF = 1.38 \times Turbidity^{1.66}$	0.09
logCU = 0.98 + 1.98log(Turbidity) + 0.11log(Shear Stress)	
$CU = 9.55 \times Turbidity^{1.98} \times Shear Stress^{0.11}$	0.21
logSF = 0.65 + 1.64log(Turbidity)	
$SF = 4.47 \times Turbidity^{1.64}$	0.13
TC = Total <i>E. coli</i> concentration, MC = Medium and Coarse <i>E. coli</i>	concentration, FVF = Fine and
Very Fine E. coli concentration, CU = Clay and Unattached E. co	<i>li</i> concentration, SF = Particle

attached fraction = MC + FVF

Table 3.6 Results of regression analysis to predict storm flow *E. coli* concentration

3.3.8 Impact of particle size on travel distance of fraction of E. coli

The distance over which the bacteria travel is dependent on the size of the particle it is attached to. For instance, small-sized particles would travel farther and, therefore, stay within the water column longer compared to large-sized particles. This phenomenon is reflected in the estimated particle travel distance of the various *E. coli* fractions (Table 3.7). The estimated travel distance for fine and very fine silt across each storm event were at least 10-folds that of medium and coarse silt. Similarly, unattached bacteria had the potential to travel 10 times or more the distance travelled by bacteria attached to fine and very fine silt. Across all fractions of *E. coli*, the unattached bacteria had the potential to travel long distances (> 0.4 miles) and contribute to water quality impairments for an extended period.

Table 3.7 Estimated travel distance (miles) (Min-Max) for *E. coli* associated with particle fraction across each storm event

Storm Event	Medium and Coarse Silt	Fine and Very Fine Silt	Clay and Unattached
S 1	0.009 - 0.01	0.13 - 0.17	2.1 - 2.7
S 2	0.08 - 0.09	1.3 – 1.4	21.2 - 21.3
S 3	0.03 - 0.04	0.6 - 0.7	8.9 - 0.8
S 4	0.04 - 0.05	0.70 - 0.73	11.3-11.7
S5	0.0015 - 0.013	0.022 - 0.2	0.4 - 3.2
S 6	0.002 - 0.0023	0.032 - 0.034	0.51 - 0.55
S 7	0.003 - 0.005	0.04 - 0.07	0.70 - 1.08
S 8	0.004 - 0.02	0.06 - 0.24	0.90 - 3.85
BF	0.002 - 0.047	0.025 - 0.72	0.41 - 11.5

3.4 Conclusions

This study examined the fate and attachment of *E. coli* to various particle sizes as well as their impact on water quality during both storm and baseflow events within an impaired stream. The study also assessed the relationship between water quality hydrologic variables and *E. coli* in predicting *E. coli* concentrations.

Unattached dominated the total *E. coli* concentration across both storm events (60– 97% of the total *E. coli*) and baseflow samples (62– 97% of the total *E. coli*). With unattached *E. coli* forming the majority of the total *E. coli* concentration, further analysis to test the assumption that the total bacteria concentration can be modeled as free-living was performed. The unattached *E. coli* were significantly different in three out of eight storm events, or 38% of storm events. Thus, partitioning between attached and unattached bacteria is recommended when predicting in-stream bacteria levels.

A comparison of *E. coli* to the SSM for primary and limited contact recreation across both storm and baseflow events was performed. Total and unattached *E. coli* posed a similar and severe threat to water quality, as *E. coli* levels among these fractions exceeded set the standards most of the time across both baseflow and storm event. In addition, settling of attached *E. coli* would not be enough to achieve the set water quality for Skunk Creek during a storm event. Generally, *E. coli* levels during storm events pose a health risk for human use based on designated use of this water.

Bacterial loading among *E. coli* fractions indicated that at least two periods of baseflow could be required to equal the same period for storm event *E. coli* loading.

Attempts to predict *E. coli* levels were not successful, as regression models performed poorly and could not adequately predict *E. coli* concentrations ($R^2 = 0.09 - 0.22$). Thus process-based modelling at the watershed scale is recommended to model water column *E. coli* during high flows such as storm events.

For future and adequate prediction of *E. coli* levels during storm events, a processbased modelling approach using watershed scale models such as SWAT or HSPF is recommended. The impact of storm events on bacterial loading could be further studied by undertaking scheduled sampling of baseflows prior to occurrence of storm events, in order to estimate *E. coli* levels contributed by storm events via resuspension and runoff. In addition, it is also suggested that tracer studies be undertaken to compare results with estimated travel distance of *E. coli* attached to particles.

3.5 Acknowledgements

This study was funded by USGS 104B Program and USDA NIFA Hatch Project SD00H604-15. We thank the undergraduate research assistants-Miranda, Joel, and Dylan who helped during both field and laboratory work. We also grateful for South Dakota Mesonet for providing us with rainfall data.

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

4.1 Conclusion

A series of storm events and baseflow events were monitored to evaluate the fate and transport of *E. coli* within an impaired stream located in eastern South Dakota. *E. coli* concentrations were partitioned into those associated with settleable particles (attached) and those that were associated with clay and unattached. The impact of *E. coli* fractions on the water quality standard during both storm and baseflow events was assessed, including their relationship with water quality parameters (turbidity and temperature) and hydrologic parameters (flow and bed shear stress).

Among *E. coli* associated with particle fractions, the average *E. coli* concentration associated with coarse silt and fine silt were not significantly different, whereas the unattached concentrations were significantly higher. Partitioning of *E. coli* between unattached and settleable *E. coli* showed that unattached *E. coli* constituted a substantial portion of the total *E. coli* concentration across both storm events (> 75%) and baseflow (> 62%). Unattached bacteria consistently exceeded the SSM standard for *E. coli*. Thus, sedimentation of settleable *E. coli* would not be enough to reduce *E. coli* concentrations to meet the standard. The total, settleable and unattached *E. coli* load ranged from 1.2^{10} to 1.5^{12} CFU, 2^9 to 4^{11} CFU, and 1^{10} to 1^{12} CFU respectively across storm events. The EBP of loading showed that at least two periods of baseflow would be required to equal *E. coli* loading across most of the storm events. Further analysis to test the assumption that bacteria concentrations within the water column could be modeled solely as unattached bacteria revealed that this assumption was not appropriate for nearly 40% of storm events. The correlation analysis showed a weak relationship between water temperature, turbidity, flow, and bed shear stress. Attempts to model and predict *E. coli* concentrations during storm events as a function of water quality and hydrologic parameters using a regression analysis were poor ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.09$ -0.22).

4.2 Recommendations for Future Work

In this study, baseflow event samples for *E. coli* were analysed randomly for dry weather periods. For future work, baseflow samples could be taken on a day or a few hours prior to storm events for *E. coli* analysis, to enable estimation of additional input of *E. coli* into the water column via resuspension and runoff.

In addition, prediction of *E. coli* concentration using regression analysis performed poorly, therefore process-based models such as Soil Water Assessment Tools (SWAT) and Hydrological Simulation Program-FORTRAN (HSPF) could be used.

Furthermore, tracer studies could be undertaken to compare results with estimated travel distance of particle-attached *E. coli*. The impact of changing stream characteristics on travel distance of *E. coli* fractions could also be investigated.

APPENDIX A: E. COLI CONCENTRATION

The data below is the *E. coli* (CFU 100 mL⁻¹) associated with particle fractions across both storm events and baseflow events

Events	MC	FVF	CU	Total
S1	133	1300	2567	4000
	567	767	5033	6367
	233	100	4133	4467
	200	100	2400	2700
	233	267	2367	2867
	533	1033	2333	3900
	367	133	2333	2833
	267	1533	3800	5600
	2800	500	5167	8467
	633	700	4567	5900
S2	120	70	620	810
	7	120	660	787
	30	47	673	750
	10	103	663	777
	120	43	590	753
	173	63	613	850
	40	57	647	743
	60	130	587	777
	183	123	563	870
	73	3	627	703
S3	1667	33	4700	6400
	867	133	8367	9367
	167	2467	6833	9467
	1300	1200	6400	8900
	1400	33	13967	15400
	5333	1300	15433	22067
S4	333	767	8400	9500
	1400	133	6133	7667
	500	33	6833	7367
	133	167	6600	6900
	1933	267	5967	8167
	433	67	6667	7167
	933	900	5733	7567
	200	167	6367	6733

Table A1-: E. coli concentration across storm and baseflow events

	500	1000	4800	6300
	533	200	5633	6367
S5	100	33.3	3866.7	4000
	1433	200	9967	11600
	100	833	6267	7200
	1467	167	3567	5200
	467	200	3200	3867
	400	233	2533	3167
	1267	600	2800	4667
	333	700	2867	3900
	1167	200	2233	3600
	190	30	1107	1327
S6	433	1300	14233	15967
	400	733	6133	7267
	900	300	3767	4967
	67	900	2000	2967
	333	400	1633	2367
	213	97	1440	1750
S7	20	210	1190	1420
	27	130	957	1113
	17	23	943	983
	63	167	830	1060
	60	77	833	970
	137	13	910	1060
	187	50	940	1177
	123	33	963	1120
	180	10	990	1170
	177	193	790	1160
S8	133	800	2800	3733
	500	167	6633	7300
	133	167	5067	5367
	967	833	4800	6600
	433	133	3433	4000
	767	33	3167	3967
	400	67	3667	4133
	200	400	3767	4367
	733	333	5533	6600
	2100	100	6100	8300
BF	150	90	807	1047
	20	10	487	517
	33	67	3567	3667
	120	223	563	907

23	107	480	610
190	147	1090	1427
30	7	177	213

REFERENCES

- Abia, A. L. K., James, C., Ubomba-Jaswa, E., & Benteke Momba, M. N. (2017). Microbial remobilisation on riverbed sediment disturbance in experimental flumes and a human-impacted river: Implication for water resource management and public health in developing sub-saharan African countries. *International journal of* environmental research and public health, 14(3), 306.
- Ahiablame, L., Sheshukov, A. Y., Rahmani, V., & Moriasi, D. (2017). Annual baseflow variations as influenced by climate variability and agricultural land use change in the Missouri River Basin. *Journal of Hydrology*, 551, 188-202.
- Ahmed, W., Neller, R., & Katouli, M. (2005). Host species-specific metabolic fingerprint database for enterococci and Escherichia coli and its application to identify sources of fecal contamination in surface waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(8), 4461-4468.
- Aitken, M. (2003). Impact of agricultural practices and river catchment characteristics on river and bathing water quality. *Water Science and Technology*, 48(10), 217-224.
- Allen, S. E., Boerlin, P., Janecko, N., Lumsden, J. S., Barker, I. K., Pearl, D. L., ... Jardine, C. (2011). Antimicrobial resistance in generic Escherichia coli isolates from wild small mammals living in swine farm, residential, landfill, and natural environments in southern Ontario, Canada. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(3), 882-888.
- An, Y.-J., Kampbell, D. H., & Breidenbach, G. P. (2002). Escherichia coli and total coliforms in water and sediments at lake marinas. Environmental Pollution, 120(3), 771-778.
- Anderson, K. L., Whitlock, J. E., & Harwood, V. J. (2005). Persistence and differential survival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(6), 3041-3048.
- Anderson, K. L., Whitlock, J. E., & Harwood, V. J. (2005). Persistence and differential survival of fecal indicator bacteria in subtropical waters and sediments. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 71(6), 3041-3048. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.6.3041-3048.2005
- Auer, M. T., & Niehaus, S. L. (1993). Modeling fecal coliform bacteria—I. Field and laboratory determination of loss kinetics. *Water Research*, 27(4), 693-701.
- Bai, S., & Lung, W. S. (2005). Modeling sediment impact on the transport of fecal bacteria. Water Res, 39(20), 5232-5240. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.013
- Ball Coelho, B. R., Roy, R. C., Topp, E., & Lapen, D. R. (2007). Tile Water Quality following Liquid Swine Manure Application into Standing Corn. *Journal of environmental quality*, 36(2), 580-587. doi:10.2134/jeq2006.0306
- Ballantine, D., & Davies-Colley, R. (2013). Nitrogen, phosphorus and E. coli loads in the Sherry River, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 47(4), 529-547.

- Baudart, J., Grabulos, J., Barusseau, J.-P., & Lebaron, P. (2000). Salmonella spp. and Fecal Coliform Loads in Coastal Waters from a Point vs. Nonpoint Source of Pollution. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 29(1), 241-250. doi:10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900010031x
- Berg, H. C. (2001). Feature Article Site Index Motile Behavior of Bacteria. *Physics today*, 9, 25.
- Bertrand-Krajewski, J.-L., Ghassan Chebbo, and Agnes Saget. (1998). Distribution of pollutant mass vs volume in stormwater discharges and the first flush phenomenon. *Water Research*, 32.8 2341-2356.
- Bitton, G. (2005). Microbial indicators of fecal contamination: application to microbial source tracking. *Report submitted to the Florida Stormwater Association*, 719, 4-6.
- Boehm, A. B. (2007). Enterococci Concentrations in Diverse Coastal Environments Exhibit Extreme Variability. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41(24), 8227-8232. doi:10.1021/es071807v
- Blumenroth, P., & Wagner-Döbler, I. (1998). Survival of inoculants in polluted sediments: effect of strain origin and carbon source competition. *Microbial ecology*, *35*(3-4), 279-288.
- Bolster, C., Haznedaroglu, B., & Walker, S. (2009). Diversity in cell properties and transport behavior among 12 different environmental Escherichia coli isolates. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *38*(2), 465-472.
- Bradford, S. A., Morales, V. L., Zhang, W., Harvey, R. W., Packman, A. I., Mohanram, A., & Welty, C. (2013). Transport and Fate of Microbial Pathogens in Agricultural Settings. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 43(8), 775-893. doi:10.1080/10643389.2012.710449
- Bradford, S. A., & Segal, E. (2009). Fate of indicator microorganisms under nutrient management plan conditions. *J Environ Qual*, 38(4), 1728-1738. doi:10.2134/jeq2008.0428
- Bradford, S. A., Segal, E., Zheng, W., Wang, Q., & Hutchins, S. R. (2008). Reuse of concentrated animal feeding operation wastewater on agricultural lands. *J Environ Qual*, 37(5 Suppl), S97-S115. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0393
- Brinkmeyer, R., Amon, R. M., Schwarz, J. R., Saxton, T., Roberts, D., Harrison, S., . . . Elliott, C. (2015). Distribution and persistence of Escherichia coli and Enterococci in stream bed and bank sediments from two urban streams in Houston, TX. Sci Total Environ, 502, 650-658. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.09.071
- Brownell, M. J., Harwood, V. J., Kurz, R. C., McQuaig, S. M., Lukasik, J., & Scott, T. M. (2007). Confirmation of putative stormwater impact on water quality at a Florida beach by microbial source tracking methods and structure of indicator organism populations. *Water Res*, 41(16), 3747-3757. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2007.04.001

- Buckley, R., Clough, E., Warnken, W., & Wild, C. (1998). Coliform bacteria in streambed sediments in a subtropical rainforest conservation reserve. *Water Research*, 32(6), 1852-1856. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(97)00414-4
- Burkholder, J., Libra, B., Weyer, P., Heathcote, S., Kolpin, D., Thorne, P. S., & Wichman, M. (2007). Impacts of waste from concentrated animal feeding operations on water quality. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115(2), 308.
- Burton, G., Gunnison, D., & Lanza, G. R. (1987). Survival of pathogenic bacteria in various freshwater sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 53(4), 633-638.
- Byamukama, D., Mach, R. L., Kansiime, F., Manafi, M., & Farnleitner, A. H. (2005). Discrimination efficacy of fecal pollution detection in different aquatic habitats of a high-altitude tropical country, using presumptive coliforms, Escherichia coli, and Clostridium perfringens spores. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(1), 65-71.
- Byappanahalli, M., Fowler, M., Shively, D., & Whitman, R. (2003). Ubiquity and persistence of *Escherichia coli* in a Midwestern coastal stream. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(8), 4549-4555.
- Byappanahalli, M. N., Nevers, M. B., Korajkic, A., Staley, Z. R., & Harwood, V. J. (2012). Enterococci in the environment. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 76(4), 685-706.
- Byers, H. L., Cabrera, M. L., Matthews, M. K., Franklin, D. H., Andrae, J. G., Radcliffe, D. E., . . . Calvert, V. H. (2005). Phosphorus, sediment, and *Escherichia coli* loads in unfenced streams of the Georgia Piedmont, USA. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34(6), 2293-2300.
- Cabelli, V. J. (1983). *Health effects criteria for marine recreational waters* (Vol. 600): Health Effects Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, US Environmental Protection Agency.
- Cabelli, V. J., Dufour, A. P., Levin, M. A., McCabe, L. J., & Haberman, P. W. (1979). Relationship of Microbial Indicators to Heath Effects At Marine Bathing Beaches. *American Journal of Public Health*, 69(7), 690-696.
- Cabelli, V. J., Dufour, A. P., McCabe, L. J., & Levin, M. A. (1982). SWIMMING-ASSOCIATED GASTROENTERITIS AND WATER QUALITY. American Journal of Epidemiology, 115(4), 606-616. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113342
- Calderon, R. L., Mood, E. W., & Dufour, A. P. (1991). Health effects of swimmers and nonpoint sources of contaminated water. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, *1*(1), 21-31. doi:10.1080/09603129109356701
- Carr, G. M., Morin, A., & Chambers, P. A. (2005). Bacteria and algae in stream periphyton along a nutrient gradient. *Freshwater biology*, *50*(8), 1337-1350.

- Carrillo, M., Estrada, E., & Hazen, T. C. (1985). Survival and enumeration of the fecal indicators Bifidobacterium adolescentis and *Escherichia coli* in a tropical rain forest watershed. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *50*(2), 468-476.
- Cervantes, A. A. (2012). *Resuspension of E. coli under controlled flows and stream bottom sediments.* Iowa State University,
- Chahinian, N., Bancon-Montigny, C., Caro, A., Got, P., Perrin, J.-L., Rosain, D., . . . Tournoud, M. (2012). The role of river sediments in contamination storage downstream of a waste water treatment plant in low flow conditions: organotins, faecal indicator bacteria and nutrients. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 114*, 70-81.
- Chapra, S. C. (2008). Surface water-quality modeling: Waveland press.
- Characklis, G. W., Dilts, M. J., Simmons, O. D., 3rd, Likirdopulos, C. A., Krometis, L. A., & Sobsey, M. D. (2005). Microbial partitioning to settleable particles in stormwater. *Water Res*, 39(9), 1773-1782. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2005.03.004
- Cho, K. H., Pachepsky, Y. A., Kim, J. H., Guber, A. K., Shelton, D. R., & Rowland, R. (2010). Release of Escherichia coli from the bottom sediment in a first-order creek: Experiment and reach-specific modeling. *Journal of Hydrology*, 391(3-4), 322-332. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.07.033
- Cinotto, P. J. (2005). Occurrence of fecal-indicator bacteria and protocols for identification of fecal-contamination sources in selected reaches of the West Branch Brandywine Creek, Chester County, Pennsylvania: US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey.
- Cizek, A. R., Characklis, G. W., Krometis, L.-A., Hayes, J. A., Simmons, O. D., Di Lonardo, S., . . . Sobsey, M. D. (2008). Comparing the partitioning behavior of Giardia and Cryptosporidium with that of indicator organisms in stormwater runoff. *Water Research*, 42(17), 4421-4438. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2008.06.020
- Colford, J. M., Wade, T. J., Schiff, K. C., Wright, C. C., Griffith, J. F., Sandhu, S. K., . . . Weisberg, S. B. (2007). Water Quality Indicators and the Risk of Illness at Beaches with Nonpoint Sources of Fecal Contamination. *Epidemiology*, 18(1), 27-35.
- Collins, R., Mcleod, M., Hedley, M., Donnison, A., Close, M., Hanly, J., . . . Bagshaw, C. (2007). Best management practices to mitigate faecal contamination by livestock of New Zealand waters. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, *50*(2), 267-278.
- Collins, R., McLeod, M., Hedley, M., Donnison, A., Close, M., Hanly, J., . . . Matthews, L. (2010). Best management practices to mitigate faecal contamination by livestock of New Zealand waters. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, *50*(2), 267-278. doi:10.1080/00288230709510294
- Collins, R., & Rutherford, K. (2004). Modelling bacterial water quality in streams draining pastoral land. *Water Research*, *38*(3), 700-712. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2003.10.045

- Crabill, C., Donald, R., Snelling, J., Foust, R., & Southam, G. (1999). The impact of sediment fecal coliform reservoirs on seasonal water quality in Oak Creek, Arizona. *Water Research*, *33*(9), 2163-2171.
- Craggs, R., Sukias, J., Tanner, C., & Davies-Colley, R. (2004). Advanced pond system for dairy-farm effluent treatment. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research, 47(4), 449-460.
- Craggs, R. J., Zwart, A., Nagels, J. W., & Davies-Colley, R. J. (2004). Modelling sunlight disinfection in a high rate pond. *Ecological Engineering*, 22(2), 113-122. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2004.03.001
- Craig, D. L., Fallowfield, H. J., & Cromar, N. J. (2004). Use of microcosms to determine persistence of *Escherichia coli* in recreational coastal water and sediment and validation with in situ measurements. *J Appl Microbiol*, 96(5), 922-930. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02243.x
- Crane, S., Moore, J., Grismer, M., & Miner, J. (1983). Bacterial pollution from agricultural sources: a review. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *26*(3), 858-0866.
- Crowther, J., Kay, D., & Wyer, M. D. (2002). Faecal-indicator concentrations in waters draining lowland pastoral catchments in the UK: relationships with land use and farming practices. *Water Research*, *36*(7), 1725-1734. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00394-3
- Culley, J., & Phillips, P. (1982). Bacteriological Quality of Surface and Subsurface Runoff from Manured Sandy Clay Loam Soil 1. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *11*(1), 155-158.
- Czajkowska, D., Witkowska-Gwiazdowska, A., Sikorska, I., Boszczyk-Maleszak, H., & Horoch, M. (2005). Survival of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157: H7 in water and in bottom-shore sediments. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 14*(4).
- Davies-Colley, R., Nagels, J., & Lydiard, E. (2008). Stormflow-dominated loads of faecal pollution from an intensively dairy-farmed catchment. *Water Science and Technology*, *57*(10), 1519-1523.
- Davies-Colley, R., Nagels, J., & Lydiard, E. (2008). Stormflow-dominated loads of faecal pollution from an intensively dairy-farmed catchment. *Water Sci Technol*, 57(10), 1519-1523. doi:10.2166/wst.2008.257
- Davies-Colley, R. J., Nagels, J. W., Smith, R. A., Young, R. G., & Phillips, C. J. (2004). Water quality impact of a dairy cow herd crossing a stream. *New Zealand Journal* of Marine and Freshwater Research, 38(4), 569-576. doi:10.1080/00288330.2004.9517262
- Davies, C. M., Long, J. A., Donald, M., & Ashbolt, N. J. (1995). Survival of fecal microorganisms in marine and freshwater sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(5), 1888-1896.
- Decamp, O., & Warren, A. (2000). Investigation of *Escherichia coli* removal in various designs of subsurface flow wetlands used for wastewater treatment. *Ecological Engineering*, 14(3), 293-299.

- DENR, S. (2004). The 2008 South Dakota integrated report for surface water quality assessment. South Dakota Department of Environment and Natural Resources, *Pierre, SD.*
- DENR, S. (2008). The 2008 South Dakota integrated report for surface water quality assessment. South Dakota Department of Environment and Natural Resources, *Pierre, SD*.
- DENR, S. (2012). *E. coli*/fecal coliform bacteria total maximum daily load for reaches of the big sioux river, minnehaha county south dakota (rsi-2181).

DENR, S. (2018). South Dakota Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Water Quality Standards Available at:

<u>http://www.sdlegislature.gov/Rules/DisplayRule.aspx?Rule=74:51:01</u> (verified May 11, 2018).

- Desmarais, T. R., Solo-Gabriele, H. M., & Palmer, C. J. (2002). Influence of soil on fecal indicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(3), 1165-1172.
- Dickerson Jr, J., Hagedorn, C., & Hassall, A. (2007). Detection and remediation of humanorigin pollution at two public beaches in Virginia using multiple source tracking methods. *Water Research*, *41*(16), 3758-3770
- Donovan, E., Staskal, D., Unice, K., Roberts, J., Haws, L., Finley, B., & Harris, M. (2008). Risk of gastrointestinal disease associated with exposure to pathogens in the sediments of the Lower Passaic River. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(4), 1004-1018.
- Doran, J. W., & Linn, D. (1979). Bacteriological quality of runoff water from pastureland. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 37(5), 985-991.
- Dufour, A. P. (1984). Health effects criteria for fresh recreational waters.
- Ellis, J. B., & Butler, D. (2015). Surface water sewer misconnections in England and Wales: Pollution sources and impacts. *Science of The Total Environment*, 526, 98-109. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.04.042
- Elmir, S. M., Wright, M. E., Abdelzaher, A., Solo-Gabriele, H. M., Fleming, L. E., Miller, G., . . . Quaye, E. A. (2007). Quantitative evaluation of bacteria released by bathers in a marine water. *Water Research*, 41(1), 3-10. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.10.005</u>
- Elmund, K., Allen, M., & Rice, E. (1999). Comparison of Escherichia Coli, Total Coliform, and Fecal Coliform Populations as Indicators of Wastewater Treatment Efficiency (Vol. 71).
- Evanson, M., & Ambrose, R. F. (2006). Sources and growth dynamics of fecal indicator bacteria in a coastal wetland system and potential impacts to adjacent waters. *Water Research*, 40(3), 475-486.
- Faust, M. A., Aotaky, A., & Hargadon, M. (1975). Effect of physical parameters on the in situ survival of *Escherichia coli* MC-6 in an estuarine environment. *Applied microbiology*, 30(5), 800-806.

- Ferguson, D., & Signoretto, C. (2011). Environmental Persistence and Naturalization of Fecal Indicator Organisms. In C. Hagedorn, A. R. Blanch, & V. J. Harwood (Eds.), *Microbial Source Tracking: Methods, Applications, and Case Studies* (pp. 379-397). New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Field, K. G., & Samadpour, M. (2007). Fecal source tracking, the indicator paradigm, and managing water quality. *Water Research*, *41*(16), 3517-3538.
- Frey, S. K., Topp, E., Khan, I. U. H., Ball, B. R., Edwards, M., Gottschall, N., . . . Lapen, D. R. (2015). Quantitative Campylobacter spp., antibiotic resistance genes, and veterinary antibiotics in surface and ground water following manure application: Influence of tile drainage control. *Science of The Total Environment*, 532, 138-153. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.114
- Fries, J. S., Characklis, G. W., & Noble, R. T. (2006). Attachment of fecal indicator bacteria to particles in the Neuse River Estuary, NC. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 132(10), 1338-1345.
- Fujioka, R. (2001). Monitoring coastal marine waters for spore-forming bacteria of faecal and soil origin to determine point from non-point source pollution. *Water Science and Technology*, 44(7), 181-181.
- Gannon, J. J., Busse, M. K., & Schillinger, J. E. (1983). Fecal coliform disappearance in a river impoundment. *Water Research*, *17*(11), 1595-1601. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(83)90017-9
- Garcia-Armisen, T., & Servais, P. (2007). Respective contributions of point and nonpoint sources of *E. coli* and enterococci in a large urbanized watershed (the Seine river, France). *Journal of Environmental Management*, 82(4), 512-518. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2006.01.011
- Garcia-Armisen, T., & Servais, P. (2009). Partitioning and fate of particle-associated *E. coli* in river waters. *Water Environment Research*, 81(1), 21-28.
- Gary, H. L., & Adams, J. C. (1985). Indicator bacteria in water and stream sediments near the snowy range in southern Wyoming. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 25(2), 133-144.
- Gary, H. L., Johnson, S. R., & Ponce, S. L. (1983). Cattle grazing impact on surface water quality in a Colorado front range stream. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 38(2), 124-128.
- Garzio-Hadzick, A., Shelton, D. R., Hill, R. L., Pachepsky, Y. A., Guber, A. K., & Rowland, R. (2010). Survival of manure-borne *E. coli* in streambed sediment: effects of temperature and sediment properties. *Water Res*, 44(9), 2753-2762. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.02.011
- Geldreich, E., Bordner, R., Huff, C., Clark, H., & Kabler, P. (1962). Type distribution of coliform bacteria in the feces of warm-blooded animals. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 295-301.

- Geldreich, E. E. (1966). Sanitary significance of fecal coliformes in the environment. In *Sanitary significance of fecal coliformes in the environment*: Department of the Interior.
- Geldreich, E. E., Best, L. C., Kenner, B. A., & Van Donsel, D. J. (1968). The Bacteriological Aspects of Stormwater Pollution. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 40(11), 1861-1872.
- Gentry, R. W., McCarthy, J., Layton, A., McKay, L. D., Williams, D., Koirala, S. R., & Sayler, G. S. (2006). *Escherichia coli* loading at or near base flow in a mixed-use watershed. *J Environ Qual*, 35(6), 2244-2249. doi:10.2134/jeq2006.0243
- Geohring, L. D., Wright, P. E., & Steenhuis, T. S. (1998). Preferential flow of liquid manure to subsurface drains. *Drainage in the 21st Century: Food Production and the Environment*, 8-10.
- Gerba, C. P., & McLEOD, J. S. (1976). Effect of sediments on the survival of *Escherichia coli* in marine waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *32*(1), 114-120.
- Gerba, C. P., & Smith, J. E. (2005). Sources of Pathogenic Microorganisms and Their Fate during Land Application of Wastes The opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the USEPA. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34(1), 42-48.
- Gersberg, R., Brenner, R., Lyon, S., & Elkins, B. (1987). Survival of bacteria and viruses in municipal wastewaters applied to artificial wetlands.
- González, J. M., Iriberri, J., Egea, L., & Barcina, I. (1990). Differential rates of digestion of bacteria by freshwater and marine phagotrophic protozoa. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(6), 1851-1857.
- Goyal, S. M., Gerba, C. P., & Melnick, J. L. (1977). Occurrence and distribution of bacterial indicators and pathogens in canal communities along the Texas coast. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 34(2), 139-149.
- Goyal, S. M., & Adams, W. N. (1984). Drug-resistant bacteria in Continental Shelf sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 48(4), 861-862.
- Grimes, D. (1980). Bacteriological water quality effects of hydraulically dredging contaminated upper Mississippi River bottom sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 39(4), 782-789.
- Guber, A. K., Pachepsky, Y. A., Shelton, D. R., & Yu, O. (2007). Effect of Bovine Manure on Fecal Coliform Attachment to Soil and Soil Particles of Different Sizes. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 73(10), 3363-3370. doi:10.1128/aem.02434-06
- Guber, A. K., Shelton, D. R., & Pachepsky, Y. A. (2005). Effect of manure on *Escherichia coli* attachment to soil. *J Environ Qual*, 34(6), 2086-2090. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0039
- Guenther, S., Grobbel, M., Heidemanns, K., Schlegel, M., Ulrich, R. G., Ewers, C., & Wieler, L. H. (2010). First insights into antimicrobial resistance among faecal *Escherichia coli* isolates from small wild mammals in rural areas. *Science of The Total Environment*, 408(17), 3519-3522.

- Haack, S. K., Fogarty, L. R., & Wright, C. (2003). Escherichia coli and Enterococci at Beaches in the Grand Traverse Bay, Lake Michigan: Sources, Characteristics, and Environmental Pathways. Environmental Science & Technology, 37(15), 3275-3282. doi:10.1021/es021062n
- Haile, R. W., Witte, J. S., Gold, M., Cressey, R., McGee, C., Millikan, R. C., . . . Wang, G.-y. (1999). The Health Effects of Swimming in Ocean Water Contaminated by Storm Drain Runoff. *Epidemiology*, 10(4), 355-363.
- Haller, L., Amedegnato, E., Poté, J., & Wildi, W. (2009). Influence of freshwater sediment characteristics on persistence of fecal indicator bacteria. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 203(1-4), 217-227.
- Hancock, D. D., Besser, T. E., Rice, D. H., Ebel, E. D., Herriott, D. E., & Carpenter, L. V. (1998). Multiple sources of *Escherichia coli O157* in feedlots and dairy farms in the northwestern USA. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 35(1), 11-19.
- Harmel, R., Pampell, R., Gentry, T., Smith, D., Hajda, C., Wagner, K., . . . Higgs, K. (2018). Vegetated treatment area (VTAs) efficiencies for *E. coli* and nutrient removal on small-scale swine operations. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*.
- He, L.-M., Lu, J., & Shi, W. (2007). Variability of fecal indicator bacteria in flowing and ponded waters in southern California: Implications for bacterial TMDL development and implementation. *Water Research*, *41*(14), 3132-3140.
- Hendricks, C. W. (1971). Enteric bacterial metabolism of stream sediment eluates. *Canadian journal of microbiology*, 17(4), 551-556.
- Henry, L.-A. (2004). Partitioning between Soil-adsorbed and Planktonic *Escherichia coli*. Virginia Tech,
- Hipsey, M. R., Antenucci, J. P., & Brookes, J. D. (2008). A generic, process-based model of microbial pollution in aquatic systems. *Water Resources Research*, 44(7).
- Holt, J. G., Krieg, N. R., Sneath, P. H., Staley, J. T., & Williams, S. T. (1994). Group 19. Regular, nonsporing Gram-positive rods. *Bergey's manual of determinative bacteriology, 9th ed. Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Md*, 566.
- Howell, J., Coyne, M. S., & Cornelius, P. (1996). Effect of sediment particle size and temperature on fecal bacteria mortality rates and the fecal coliform/fecal streptococci ratio. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 25(6), 1216-1220.
- Huws, S. A., Morley, R. J., Jones, M. V., Brown, M. R., & Smith, A. W. (2008). Interactions of some common pathogenic bacteria with Acanthamoeba polyphaga. *FEMS* microbiology letters, 282(2), 258-265.
- Hyer, K. E. (2007). A multiple-tracer approach for identifying sewage sources to an urban stream system (2328-0328). Retrieved from
- Iriberri, J., Ayo, B., Artolozaga, I., Barcina, I., & LEgea. (1994). Grazing on allochthonous vs autochthonous bacteria in river water. Letters in Applied Microbiology, *18*(1), 12-14.

- Irvine, K., Rossi, M. C., Vermette, S., Bakert, J., & Kleinfelder, K. (2011). Illicit discharge detection and elimination: Low cost options for source identification and trackdown in stormwater systems. Urban Water Journal, 8(6), 379-395. doi:10.1080/1573062X.2011.630095
- Irvine, K. N., & Pettibone, G. W. (1993). Dynamics of indicator bacteria populations in sediment and river water near a combined sewer outfall. *Environmental Technology*, 14(6), 531-542. doi:10.1080/09593339309385322
- Ishii, S., Ksoll, W. B., Hicks, R. E., & Sadowsky, M. J. (2006). Presence and growth of naturalized *Escherichia coli* in temperate soils from Lake Superior watersheds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(1), 612-621.
- Ishii, S., & Sadowsky, M. J. (2008). Escherichia coli in the Environment: Implications for Water Quality and Human Health. Microbes and Environments, 23(2), 101-108. doi:10.1264/jsme2.23.101
- Islam, M. M., Hofstra, N., & Islam, M. A. (2017). The Impact of Environmental Variables on Faecal Indicator Bacteria in the Betna River Basin, Bangladesh. *Environmental Processes*, 4(2), 319-332.
- Jamieson, R. C., Gordon, R. J., Tattrie, S. C., & Stratton, G. W. (2003). Sources and persistence of fecal coliform bacteria in a rural watershed. *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada*, 38.1, 33-47.
- Jamieson, R., Gordon, R., Joy, D., & Lee, H. (2004). Assessing microbial pollution of rural surface waters. *Agricultural Water Management*, 70(1), 1-17. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2004.05.006
- Jamieson, R., Joy, D. M., Lee, H., Kostaschuk, R., & Gordon, R. (2005). Transport and deposition of sediment-associated *Escherichia coli* in natural streams. *Water Res*, 39(12), 2665-2675. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2005.04.040
- Jamieson, R. C., Douglas M. Joy, H. Lee, R. Kostaschuk, and Robert J. Gordon. (2005). Resuspension of sediment-associated *Escherichia coli* in a natural stream. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34.2, 581-589.
- Jamieson, R. C., Joy, D. M., Lee, H., Kostaschuk, R., & Gordon, R. J. (2005). Resuspension of sediment-associated *Escherichia coli* in a natural stream. *Journal of environmental quality*, 34(2), 581-589.
- Jardine, C. M., Janecko, N., Allan, M., Boerlin, P., Chalmers, G., Kozak, G., . . . Reid-Smith, R. J. (2012). Antimicrobial resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates from raccoons (Procyon lotor) in Southern Ontario, Canada. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(11), 3873-3879.
- Jeng, H. A. C., Englande, A. J., Bakeer, R. M., & Bradford, H. B. (2005a). Impact of urban stormwater runoff on estuarine environmental quality. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 63*(4), 513-526. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2004.11.024
- Jeng, H. C., England, A. J., & Bradford, H. B. (2005b). Indicator Organisms Associated with Stormwater Suspended Particles and Estuarine Sediment. *Journal of*

Environmental Science and Health, Part A, 40(4), 779-791. doi:10.1081/ESE-200048264

- Jenkins, M. B., Endale, D. M., Schomberg, H. H., & Sharpe, R. R. (2006). Fecal bacteria and sex hormones in soil and runoff from cropped watersheds amended with poultry litter. *Science of The Total Environment*, *358*(1-3), 164-177.
- Jiang, S. C., Chu, W., Olson, B. H., He, J.-W., Choi, S., Zhang, J., . . . Gedalanga, P. B. (2007). Microbial source tracking in a small southern California urban watershed indicates wild animals and growth as the source of fecal bacteria. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 76(4), 927-934. doi:10.1007/s00253-007-1047-0
- Johnson, S. R., Gary, H. L., & Ponce, S. L. (1978). *Range cattle impacts on stream water quality in the Colorado Front Range* (Vol. 359): Forest Service, US Dept. of Agriculture, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Joy, D., Lee, H., Reaume, C., Whiteley, H., & Zelin, S. (1998). Microbial contamination of subsurface tile drainage water from field applications of liquid manure. *Canadian agricultural engineering*, 40(3), 153-160.
- Kay, D., Crowther, J., Stapleton, C., Wyer, M., Fewtrell, L., Edwards, A., . . . Wilkinson, J. (2008). Faecal indicator organism concentrations in sewage and treated effluents. *Water Research*, 42(1-2), 442-454.
- Kim, G., Choi, E., & Lee, D. (2005). Diffuse and point pollution impacts on the pathogen indicator organism level in the Geum River, Korea. *Sci Total Environ*, 350(1-3), 94-105. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.01.021
- Kim, J.-W., Pachepsky, Y. A., Shelton, D. R., & Coppock, C. (2010). Effect of streambed bacteria release on *E. coli* concentrations: Monitoring and modeling with the modified SWAT. *Ecological Modelling*, 221(12), 1592-1604. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.03.005
- Kim, M., Boithias, L., Cho, K. H., Silvera, N., Thammahacksa, C., Latsachack, K., . . . Ribolzi, O. (2017). Hydrological modeling of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in a tropical mountain catchment. *Water Research*, 119, 102-113. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.038
- Kinzelman, J., McLellan, S. L., Daniels, A. D., Cashin, S., Singh, A., Gradus, S., & Bagley, R. (2004). Non-point source pollution: Determination of replication versus persistence of *Escherichia coli* in surface water and sediments with correlation of levels to readily measurable environmental parameters. *Journal of Water and Health*, 2(2), 103-114.
- Kistemann, T., Classen, T., Koch, C., Dangendorf, F., Fischeder, R., Gebel, J., . . . Exner, M. (2002). Microbial Load of Drinking Water Reservoir Tributaries during Extreme Rainfall and Runoff. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(5), 2188-2197. doi:10.1128/aem.68.5.2188-2197.2002
- Krometis, L.-A. H., Characklis, G. W., Simmons III, O. D., Dilts, M. J., Likirdopulos, C. A., & Sobsey, M. D. (2007). Intra-storm variability in microbial partitioning and microbial loading rates. *Water Research*, 41(2), 506-516.

- Krometis, L. A., Characklis, G. W., Simmons, O. D., 3rd, Dilts, M. J., Likirdopulos, C. A., & Sobsey, M. D. (2007). Intra-storm variability in microbial partitioning and microbial loading rates. *Water Res*, 41(2), 506-516. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2006.09.029
- Kunkel, E. A., Privette, C. V., Sawyer, C. B., & Hayes, J. C. (2013). Attachment of Escherichia coli to fine sediment particles within construction sediment basins. *Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology*, 4(03), 407.
- LaBelle, R. L., Gerba, C. P., Goyal, S. M., Melnick, J. L., Cech, I., & Bogdan, G. F. (1980). Relationships between environmental factors, bacterial indicators, and the occurrence of enteric viruses in estuarine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 39(3), 588-596.
- LaLiberte, P., & Grimes, D. J. (1982). Survival of *Escherichia coli* in lake bottom sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 43(3), 623-628.
- Lapen, D., Topp, E., Edwards, M., Sabourin, L., Curnoe, W., Gottschall, N., . . . Payne, M. (2008). Effect of liquid municipal biosolid application method on tile and ground water quality. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *37*(3), 925-936.
- Lee, C. M., Lin, T. Y., Lin, C.-C., Kohbodi, G. A., Bhatt, A., Lee, R., & Jay, J. A. (2006). Persistence of fecal indicator bacteria in Santa Monica Bay beach sediments. *Water Research*, 40(14), 2593-2602.
- Lee, S., Lee, J., & Kim, M. (2012). The influence of storm-water sewer overflows on stream water quality and source tracking of fecal contamination. *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, 16(1), 39-44. doi:10.1007/s12205-012-1198-0
- LeJeune, J., Besser, T., Rice, D., Berg, J., Stilborn, R., & Hancock, D. (2004). Longitudinal study of fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 in feedlot cattle: predominance and persistence of specific clonal types despite massive cattle population turnover. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(1), 377-384.
- Lewis, D. J., Atwill, E. R., Lennox, M. S., Hou, L., Karle, B., & Tate, K. W. (2005). Linking on-farm dairy management practices to storm-flow fecal coliform loading for California coastal watersheds. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 107(1), 407-425. doi:10.1007/s10661-005-3911-7
- Liao, H., Krometis, L.-A. H., Hession, W. C., House, L. L., Kline, K., & Badgley, B. D. (2014). Hydrometeorological and Physicochemical Drivers of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Urban Stream Bottom Sediments. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 43(6), 2034-2043. doi:10.2134/jeq2014.06.0255
- Liao, H., Krometis, L.-A. H., Cully Hession, W., Benitez, R., Sawyer, R., Schaberg, E., . . Badgley, B. D. (2015). Storm loads of culturable and molecular fecal indicators in an inland urban stream. *Science of The Total Environment*, 530-531, 347-356. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.098
- Lim, K. J., Engel, B. A., Tang, Z., Choi, J., Kim, K. S., Muthukrishnan, S., & Tripathy, D. (2005). Automated web GIS based hydrograph analysis tool, WHAT. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 41(6), 1407-1416.

- Line, D. (2003). Changes in a stream's physical and biological conditions following livestock exclusion. *Transactions of the ASAE, 46*(2), 287.
- Lipp, E. K., Kurz, R., Vincent, R., Rodriguez-Palacios, C., Farrah, S. R., & Rose, J. B. (2001). The effects of seasonal variability and weather on microbial fecal pollution and enteric pathogens in a subtropical estuary. *Estuaries*, 24(2), 266-276. doi:Doi 10.2307/1352950
- Literak, I., Dolejska, M., Radimersky, T., Klimes, J., Friedman, M., Aarestrup, F. M., . . . Cizek, A. (2010). Antimicrobial-resistant faecal *Escherichia coli* in wild mammals in central Europe: multiresistant Escherichia coli producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in wild boars. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 108(5), 1702-1711.
- Liu, P., Soupir, M. L., Zwonitzer, M., Huss, B., & Jarboe, L. R. (2011). Association of Antibiotic Resistance in Agricultural *Escherichia coli* Isolates with Attachment to Quartz. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(19), 6945-6953. doi:10.1128/AEM.00717-11
- M Davies, C., & J Bavor, H. (2000). The Fate of Stormwater-Associated Bacteria in Constructed Wetland and Water Pollution Control Pond Systems (Vol. 89).
- Mahler, B. J., Personné, J. C., Lods, G. F., & Drogue, C. (2000). Transport of free and particulate-associated bacteria in karst. *Journal of Hydrology*, 238(3), 179-193. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(00)00324-3
- Maki, L. R., & Picard, K. (1965). Normal intestinal flora of cattle fed high-roughage rations. *Journal of bacteriology*, 89(5), 1244-1249.
- Mallin, M. A., Ensign, S. H., McIver, M. R., Shank, G. C., & Fowler, P. K. (2001). Demographic, landscape, and meteorological factors controlling the microbial pollution of coastal waters. In *The Ecology and Etiology of Newly Emerging Marine Diseases* (pp. 185-193): Springer.
- Marino, R. P., & Gannon, J. J. (1991). Survival of fecal coliforms and fecal streptococci in storm drain sediment. *Water Research*, 25(9), 1089-1098. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(91)90202-2
- Marion, J. W., Lee, J., Lemeshow, S., & Buckley, T. J. (2010). Association of gastrointestinal illness and recreational water exposure at an inland U.S. beach. *Water Research*, 44(16), 4796-4804. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.065
- Marsalek, J. (1979). Malvern urban test catchment. In *IWD Research Report* (Vol. 95): Environment Canada.
- Marsalek, J., Dutka, B., & Tsanis, I. (1992). Urban Impacts on Bacteriological Pollution of the St Clair River in Sarnia: Sources and Cleanup. *National Water Research Institute*, 92-138.
- Marsalek, J., & Rochfort, Q. (2004). Urban wet-weather flows: sources of fecal contamination impacting on recreational waters and threatening drinking-water sources. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 67(20-22), 1765-1777. doi:10.1080/15287390490492430

- Matson, E. A., Hornor, S. G., & Buck, J. D. (1978). Pollution indicators and other microorganisms in river sediment. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 13-19.
- Mawdsley, J. L., Bardgett, R. D., Merry, R. J., Pain, B. F., & Theodorou, M. K. (1995). Pathogens in livestock waste, their potential for movement through soil and environmental pollution. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 2(1), 1-15.
- McCorquodale, J., Zhou, S., & Ji, Z. (2004). Phase III Detroit River bacteria study investigation of remedial actions (final report). In: Industrial Research Institute, University of Windsor, Windsor, Canada IR123-32. Cited by Marsalek and Rochfort.
- McCorquodale, J. A., Georgiou, I., Carnelos, S., & Englande, A. J. (2004). Modeling coliforms in storm water plumes. *Journal of Environmental Engineering & Science*, *3*(5), 419-431. doi:10.1139/S03-055
- McDaniel, R. L., Soupir, M. L., Tuttle, R. B., & Cervantes, A. E. (2013). Release, Dispersion, and Resuspension of *Escherichia coli* From Direct Fecal Deposits Under Controlled Flows. *Journal of American Water Resources Association*, 49(2), 319–327.
- McDonald, A., & Kay, D. (1981). Enteric bacterial concentrations in reservoir feeder streams: baseflow characteristics and response to hydrograph events. *Water Research*, 15(8), 961-968.
- McDonald, A., Kay, D., & Jenkins, A. (1982). Generation of fecal and total coliform surges by stream flow manipulation in the absence of normal hydrometeorological stimuli. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 44(2), 292-300.
- McKergow, L. A., & Davies-Colley, R. J. (2009). Stormflow dynamics and loads of Escherichia coliin a large mixed land use catchment. *Hydrological Processes*, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/hyp.7480
- McKergow, L. A., & Davies-Colley, R. J. (2010). Stormflow dynamics and loads of *Escherichia coli* in a large mixed land use catchment. *Hydrological Processes*, 24(3), 276-289. doi:10.1002/hyp.7480
- McLellan, S. L., Hollis, E. J., Depas, M. M., Van Dyke, M., Harris, J., & Scopel, C. O. (2007). Distribution and fate of *Escherichia coli* in Lake Michigan following contamination with urban stormwater and combined sewer overflows. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 33(3), 566-580.
- Michel, P. (1998). An epidemiologic study of human cases of verocytotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection reported in Ontario.
- Miller, J., Chanasyk, D., Curtis, T., Entz, T., & Willms, W. (2010). Influence of streambank fencing with a cattle crossing on riparian health and water quality of the Lower Little Bow River in Southern Alberta, Canada. Agricultural Water Management, 97(2), 247-258. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2009.09.016
- Mote, B. L., Turner, J. W., & Lipp, E. K. (2012). Persistence and Growth of the Fecal Indicator Bacteria Enterococci in Detritus and Natural Estuarine Plankton

Communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(8), 2569-2577. doi:10.1128/aem.06902-11

- Mubiru, D., Coyne, M. S., & Grove, J. H. (2000). Mortality of *Escherichia coli O157: H7* in two soils with different physical and chemical properties. *Journal of Environmental Quality, 29*(6), 1821-1825.
- Muenz, T. K., Golladay, S. W., Vellidis, G., & Smith, L. L. (2006). Stream buffer effectiveness in an agriculturally influenced area, southwestern Georgia. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35(5), 1924-1938.
- Muirhead, R., Davies-Colley, R., Donnison, A., & Nagels, J. (2004). Faecal bacteria yields in artificial flood events: quantifying in-stream stores. *Water Research*, 38(5), 1215-1224.
- Muirhead, R. W., Davies-Colley, R. J., Donnison, A. M., & Nagels, J. W. (2004). Faecal bacteria yields in artificial flood events: quantifying in-stream stores. *Water Res*, 38(5), 1215-1224. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2003.12.010
- Muirhead, R. W., Collins, R. P., & Bremer, P. J. (2005). Erosion and subsequent transport state of Escherichia coli from cowpats. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(6), 2875-2879.
- Nagels, J. W., Davies-Colley, R. J., Donnison, A. M., & Muirhead, R. W. (2002). Faecal contamination over flood events in a pastoral agricultural stream in New Zealand. *Water Science and Technology*, 45(12), 45-52.
- Navarro-Gonzalez, N., Porrero, M., Mentaberre, G., Serrano, E., Mateos, A., Domínguez, L., & Lavin, S. (2013). Antimicrobial resistance in indicator Escherichia coli isolates from free-ranging livestock and sympatric wild ungulates in a natural environment (Northeastern Spain). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(19), 6184-6186.
- Niewolak, S. (1998). Total viable count and concentration of enteric bacteria in bottom sediments from the Czarna Hancza River, Northeast Poland. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 7, 295-306.
- NRCS, U. (2006). Vegetative treatment systems for open lot runoff. United States Department of Agriculture. *Natural Resources Conservation Service*.
- Obiri-Danso, K., & Jones, K. (2000). Intertidal sediments as reservoirs for hippurate negative campylobacters, salmonellae and faecal indicators in three EU recognised bathing waters in north west England. *Water Research*, *34*(2), 519-527.
- Oliver, D. M., Clegg, C. D., Heathwaite, A. L., & Haygarth, P. M. (2007). Preferential attachment of *Escherichia coli* to different particle size fractions of an agricultural grassland soil. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 185*(1-4), 369-375.
- Ott, R. L., & Longnecker, M. (2001). Statistical methods and data analysis. *Thomson Learning*.
- Otto, K., Elwing, H., & Hermansson, M. (1999). Effect of ionic strength on initial interactions of *Escherichia coli* with surfaces, studied on-line by a novel quartz crystal microbalance technique. *Journal of bacteriology*, *181*(17), 5210-5218.
- Oun, A., Kumar, A., Harrigan, T., Angelakis, A., & Xagoraraki, I. (2014). Effects of biosolids and manure application on microbial water quality in rural areas in the US. *Water*, 6(12), 3701-3723.
- Pachepsky, Y. A., & Shelton, D. R. (2011). Escherichia coli and Fecal Coliforms in Freshwater and Estuarine Sediments. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 41(12), 1067-1110. doi:10.1080/10643380903392718
- Palmateer, G. A., McLean, D. E., Kutas, W. L., & Meissner, S. M. (1993). Suspended Paniculate/Bacterial Interaction in Agricultural Drains. *Particulate matter and* aquatic contaminants, 1.
- Pandey, P. K., & Soupir, M. L. (2013). Assessing the impacts of *E. coli* laden streambed sediment on *E. coli* loads over a range of flows and sediment characteristics. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 49(6), 1261-1269.
- Pandey, P. K., & Soupir, M. L. (2014). Assessing Linkages between *E. coli* Levels in Streambed Sediment and Overlying Water in an Agricultural Watershed in Iowa during the First Heavy Rain Event of the Season. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 1571-1581. doi:10.13031/trans.57.10371
- Pappas, E. A., Kanwar, R. S., Baker, J. L., Lorimor, J. C., & Mickelson, S. (2008). Fecal indicator bacteria in subsurface drain water following swine manure application. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 51(5), 1567-1573.
- Parkyn, S. (2004). Review of riparian buffer zone effectiveness. 2005.
- Partheniades, E. (1965). Erosion and deposition of cohesive soils. *Journal of the Hydraulics Division*, 91(1), 105-139.
- Parveen, S., Murphree, R. L., Edmiston, L., Kaspar, C. W., Portier, K. M., & Tamplin, M. L. (1997). Association of multiple-antibiotic-resistance profiles with point and nonpoint sources of Escherichia coli in Apalachicola Bay. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(7), 2607-2612.
- Patni, N., Toxopeus, R., Tennant, A., & Hore, F. (1984). Bacterial quality of tile drainage water from manured and fertilized cropland. *Water Research*, *18*(2), 127-132.
- Pavlova, M. T., Brezenski, F. T., & Litsky, W. (1972). Evaluation of various media for isolation, enumeration and identification of fecal streptococci from natural sources. *Health laboratory science*, 9(4), 289.
- Pell, A. N. (1997). Manure and microbes: Public and animal health problem? *Journal of Dairy Science*, 80(10), 2673-2681.
- Pesapane, R., Ponder, M., & Alexander, K. (2013). Tracking pathogen transmission at the human–wildlife interface: banded mongoose and Escherichia coli. *Ecohealth*, 10(2), 115-128.
- Petersen, T. M., Rifai, H. S., Suarez, M. P., & Stein, A. R. (2005). Bacteria loads from point and nonpoint sources in an urban watershed. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 131(10), 1414-1425.

- Pettibone, G. W., Irvine, K. N., & Monahan, K. M. (1996). Impact of a ship passage on bacteria levels and suspended sediment characteristics in the Buffalo River, New York. Water Research, 30(10), 2517-2521. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(96)00135-2
- Prüss, A. (1998). Review of epidemiological studies on health effects from exposure to recreational water. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 27(1), 1-9. doi:10.1093/ije/27.1.1
- Qualls, R. G., Flynn, M. P., & Johnson, J. D. (1983). The Role of Suspended Particles in Ultraviolet Disinfection. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 55(10), 1280-1285.
- Rajib, M. A., Ahiablame, L., & Paul, M. (2016). Modeling the effects of future land use change on water quality under multiple scenarios: A case study of low-input agriculture with hay/pasture production. *Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology*, 8, 50-66. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.swaqe.2016.09.001
- Reeves, R. L., Grant, S. B., Mrse, R. D., Copil Oancea, C. M., Sanders, B. F., & Boehm, A. B. (2004). Scaling and Management of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Runoff from a Coastal Urban Watershed in Southern California. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 38(9), 2637-2648. doi:10.1021/es034797g
- Regina, V. R., Lokanathan, A. R., Modrzyński, J. J., Sutherland, D. S., & Meyer, R. L. (2014). Surface physicochemistry and ionic strength affects eDNA's role in bacterial adhesion to abiotic surfaces. *PloS one*, 9(8), e105033.
- Rehmann, C. R., & Soupir, M. L. (2009). Importance of interactions between the water column and the sediment for microbial concentrations in streams. *Water Research*, 43(18), 4579-4589. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.06.049
- Renter, D. G., Sargeant, J. M., Hygnstorm, S. E., Hoffman, J. D., & Gillespie, J. R. (2001). Escherichia coli O157: H7 in free-ranging deer in Nebraska. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 37(4), 755-760.
- Ries III, K. G., Guthrie, J. G., Rea, A. H., Steeves, P. A., & Stewart, D. W. (2008). *StreamStats: A water resources web application* (2327-6932). Retrieved from
- Rochelle-Newall, E., Nguyen, T. M. H., Le, T. P. Q., Sengtaheuanghoung, O., & Ribolzi, O. (2015). A short review of fecal indicator bacteria in tropical aquatic ecosystems: knowledge gaps and future directions. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(308). doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00308
- Russo, S. A., Hunn, J., & Characklis, G. W. (2011). Considering bacteria-sediment associations in microbial fate and transport modeling. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 137(8), 697-706.
- Sauvé, S., Aboulfadl, K., Dorner, S., Payment, P., Deschamps, G., & Prévost, M. (2012). Fecal coliforms, caffeine and carbamazepine in stormwater collection systems in a large urban area. *Chemosphere*, 86(2), 118-123.

- Sayler, G. S., Nelson, J. D., Justice, A., & Colwell, R. R. (1975). Distribution and Significance of Fecal Indicator Organisms in the Upper Chesapeake Bay. *Applied microbiology*, 30(4), 625-638.
- Schiff, K., & Kinney, P. (2001). Tracking sources of bacterial contamination in stormwater discharges to Mission Bay, California. Water Environment Research, 73(5), 534-542.
- Schillinger, J. E., & Gannon, J. J. (1985). Bacterial Adsorption and Suspended Particles in Urban Stormwater. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 57(5), 384-389.
- Sercu, B., Van De Werfhorst, L. C., Murray, J. L. S., & Holden, P. A. (2011). Sewage Exfiltration As a Source of Storm Drain Contamination during Dry Weather in Urban Watersheds. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(17), 7151-7157. doi:10.1021/es200981k
- Seyfried, P., & Harris, E. (1990). *Bacteriological water quality study examining the impact* of sediment and survival times in the Humber River and Black Creek: Environment Ontario.
- Sherer, B. M., Miner, J. R., Moore, J. A., & Buckhouse, J. C. (1988). Resuspending organisms from a rangeland stream bottom. *Trans. ASAE*, *31*(4), 1217-1222.
- Sherer, B. M., Miner, J. R., Moore, J. A., & Buckhouse, J. C. (1992). Indicator bacterial survival in stream sediments. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 21(4), 591-595.
- Shiaris, M., Rex, A., Pettibone, G., Keay, K., McManus, P., Rex, M., . . . Gallagher, E. (1987). Distribution of indicator bacteria and Vibrio parahaemolyticus in sewagepolluted intertidal sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 53(8), 1756-1761.
- Sjogren, R. E. (1994). Prolonged survival of an environmental *Escherchia coli* in laboratory soil microcosms. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 75*(3), 389-403. doi:10.1007/bf00482948
- Sorensen, D. L., Eberl, S. G., & Dicksa, R. A. (1989). Clostridium perfringens as a point source indicator in non-point polluted streams. *Water Research*, 23(2), 191-197. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(89)90043-2
- Soupir, M. L., Mostaghimi, S., & Dillaha, T. (2010). Attachment of *Escherichia coli* and enterococci to particles in runoff. *J Environ Qual*, *39*(3), 1019-1027. doi:10.2134/jeq2009.0296
- Soupir, M. L., Mostaghimi, S., & Love, N. G. (2008). Method to Partition Between Attached and Unattached E. coli in Runoff From Agricultural Lands1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 44(6), 1591-1599. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.2008.00262.x
- Steets, B. M., & Holden, P. A. (2003). A mechanistic model of runoff-associated fecal coliform fate and transport through a coastal lagoon. *Water Research*, 37(3), 589-608. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00312-3

- Stein, E. D., & Tiefenthaler, L. L. (2005). Dry-Weather Metals and Bacteria Loading in an Arid, Urban Watershed: Ballona Creek, California. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 164(1), 367-382. doi:10.1007/s11270-005-4041-0
- Stephenson, G., & Rychert, R. (1982). Bottom sediment: a reservoir of *Escherichia coli* in rangeland streams. *Journal of Range Management*, 119-123.
- Stevenson, A. H. (1953). Studies of bathing water quality and health. *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health*, 43(5_Pt_1), 529-538.
- Stout, W., Pachepsky, Y., Shelton, D., Sadeghi, A., Saporito, L., & Sharpley, A. (2005). Runoff transport of faecal coliforms and phosphorus released from manure in grass buffer conditions. *Letters in applied microbiology*, 41(3), 230-234.
- Sunohara, M. D., Gottschall, N., Craiovan, E., Wilkes, G., Topp, E., Frey, S. K., & Lapen, D. R. (2016). Controlling tile drainage during the growing season in Eastern Canada to reduce nitrogen, phosphorus, and bacteria loading to surface water. *Agricultural Water Management*, 178, 159-170. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2016.08.030
- Tallon, P., Magajna, B., Lofranco, C., & Leung, K. T. (2005). Microbial Indicators of Faecal Contamination in Water: A Current Perspective. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 166(1), 139-166. doi:10.1007/s11270-005-7905-4
- Tate, K. W., Atwill, E. R., McDougald, N. K., George, M. R., & Witt, D. (2000). A method for estimating cattle fecal loading on rangeland watersheds. *Journal of Range Management*, 506-510.
- Templar, H. A., Dila, D. K., Bootsma, M. J., Corsi, S. R., & McLellan, S. L. (2016). Quantification of human-associated fecal indicators reveal sewage from urban watersheds as a source of pollution to Lake Michigan. *Water Res, 100*, 556-567. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2016.05.056
- Thurston-Enriquez, J. A., Gilley, J. E., & Eghball, B. (2005). Microbial quality of runoff following land application of cattle manure and swine slurry. *Journal of Water and Health*, *3*(2), 157-171.
- Tiefenthaler, L., Stein, E. D., & Schiff, K. C. (2011). Levels and patterns of fecal indicator bacteria in stormwater runoff from homogenous land use sites and urban watersheds. *Journal of Water and Health*, 9(2), 279. doi:10.2166/wh.2010.056
- USEPA, E. (2002). Method 1603: *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) in water by membrane filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant Escherichia coli agar (modified mTEC). In: Office of Water, US Environmental Protection Agency Washington, DC.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), 2018. Watershed Assessment, Tracking and Environmental Results. Available at https://iaspub.epa.gov/waters10/attains_nation_cy.control (verified January 11, 2018).
- US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2008.Causes of Impairment for 303(d) Listed Waters. Washington, DC: USEPA.

- USEPA, Washington, D.C.USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), 2000. National water quality inventory: Report to Congress.USEPA Office of Water, Washington, D.C. Available at <u>https://www.epa.gov/waterdata/national-waterquality-inventory-report-congress</u>(verified January 11, 2018).USEPA, Washington, D.C.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), 2002. National water quality inventory: Report to Congress.USEPA Office of Water, Washington, D.C. Available at https://www.epa.gov/waterdata/national-water-quality-inventory-report-congress (verified January 11, 2018). USEPA, Washington, D.C.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), 2004. National water quality inventory: Report to Congress. USEPA Office of Water, Washington, D.C. Available at <u>https://www.epa.gov/waterdata/national-water-quality-inventory-report-congress</u> (verified January 11, 2018). USEPA, Washington, D.C.
- USGS-NLCD, 2015 USGS-NLCD National Land Cover Database 2011: United States Geological Survey National Map Viewer Available at:http://viewer.nationalmap.gov/viewer/ (2015) (accessed 8 March 2018)
- 2012 Recreational Water Quality Criteria, USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), Office of Water EPA 820-F-12-061, 430T, December 2012. (verified January 12, 2018).
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2018. Watershed assessment, tracking and environmental results. Retrieved from <u>http://iaspub.epa.gov/waters10/attains_nation_cy.control</u> (verified January 15, 2018).
- Valcour, J. E., Michel, P., McEwen, S. A., & Wilson, J. B. (2002). Associations between indicators of livestock farming intensity and incidence of human Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* infection. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 8(3), 252.
- Van Donsel, D., & Geldreich, E. (1971). Relationships of salmonellae to fecal coliforms in bottom sediments. *Water Research*, 5(11), 1079IN31081-10801087.
- Vidon, P., Campbell, M. A., & Gray, M. (2008). Unrestricted cattle access to streams and water quality in till landscape of the Midwest. *Agricultural Water Management*, 95(3), 322-330. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2007.10.017
- Vidon, P., Tedesco, L. P., Wilson, J., Campbell, M. A., Casey, L. R., & Gray, M. (2008). Direct and indirect hydrological controls on E. coli concentration and loading in midwestern streams. *J Environ Qual*, 37(5), 1761-1768. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0311
- Wade, T. J., Calderon, R. L., Sams, E., Beach, M., Brenner, K. P., Williams, A. H., & Dufour, A. P. (2006). Rapidly Measured Indicators of Recreational Water Quality Are Predictive of Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114(1), 24-28. doi:10.1289/ehp.8273
- Wade, T. J., Pai, N., Eisenberg, J. N., & Colford Jr, J. M. (2003). Do US Environmental Protection Agency water quality guidelines for recreational waters prevent gastrointestinal illness? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 111(8), 1102.

- Walker, A. (1992). Swimming: The Hazards Of Taking A Dip. BMJ: British Medical Journal, 304(6821), 242-245.
- Walters, E., Graml, M., Behle, C., Müller, E., & Horn, H. (2013). Influence of Particle Association and Suspended Solids on UV Inactivation of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in an Urban River. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 225*(1), 1822. doi:10.1007/s11270-013-1822-8
- Ward, A. D., & Trimble, S. W. (2003). Environmental hydrology: Crc Press.
- Webster, L. F., Thompson, B. C., Fulton, M. H., Chestnut, D. E., Van Dolah, R. F., Leight, A. K., & Scott, G. I. (2004). Identification of sources of *Escherichia coli* in South Carolina estuaries using antibiotic resistance analysis. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 298(2), 179-195.
- Weiskel, P. K., Howes, B. L., & Heufelder, G. R. (1996). Coliform Contamination of a Coastal Embayment: Sources and Transport Pathways. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 30(6), 1872-1881. doi:10.1021/es950466v
- Wheeler Alm, E., Burke, J., & Spain, A. (2003). Fecal indicator bacteria are abundant in wet sand at freshwater beaches. *Water Research*, 37(16), 3978-3982. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00301-4
- Whitlock, J. E., Jones, D. T., & Harwood, V. J. (2002). Identification of the sources of fecal coliforms in an urban watershed using antibiotic resistance analysis. *Water Research*, 36(17), 4273-4282. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00139-2
- Whitman, R. L., Nevers, M. B., & Byappanahalli, M. N. (2006). Examination of the watershed-wide distribution of Escherichia coli along Southern Lake Michigan: an integrated approach. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72(11), 7301-7310. doi:10.1128/AEM.00454-06
- Wilcock, R. J., Betteridge, K., Shearman, D., Fowles, C. R., Scarsbrook, M. R., Thorrold, B. S., & Costall, D. (2009). Riparian protection and on-farm best management practices for restoration of a lowland stream in an intensive dairy farming catchment: A case study. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, 43(3), 803-818.
- Wilkes, G., Brassard, J., Edge, T. A., Gannon, V., Gottschall, N., Jokinen, C. C., . . . Sunohara, M. D. (2014). Long-term monitoring of waterborne pathogens and microbial source tracking markers in paired-agricultural watersheds under controlled and conventional tile drainage management. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, AEM. 00254-00214.
- Wilkinson, J., Jenkins, A., Wyer, M., & Kay, D. (1995). Modelling faecal coliform dynamics in streams and rivers. Water Research, 29(3), 847-855. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(94)00211-O
- Witzel, S., McCoy, E., Polkowski, L., Attoe, O., & Nichols, M. (1966). PHYSICAL, CHEMICAL AND BACTERIOLOGICAL PROPERTIES OF FARM WASTES(BOVINE ANIMALS).

- Woodruff, D., Cullinan, V., Brandenberger, J., & Tribe, J. S. K. (2009). Effectiveness Monitoring of Fecal Coliform Bacteria and Nutrients in the Dungeness Watershed, Washington. Prepared by Batelle Pacific Northwest Division for the Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe.
- Wright, M. E., Solo-Gabriele, H. M., Elmir, S., & Fleming, L. E. (2009). Microbial load from animal feces at a recreational beach. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 58(11), 1649-1656. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.07.003
- Zhang, Y., Ahiablame, L., Engel, B., & Liu, J. (2013). Regression modeling of baseflow and baseflow index for Michigan USA. *Water*, 5(4), 1797-1815.
- Zita, A., & Hermansson, M. (1994). Effects of ionic strength on bacterial adhesion and stability of flocs in a wastewater activated sludge system. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(9), 3041-3048.